
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 18 September 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Thursday, 26 September 2019 at 1.00 pm
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Members: Councillor Jacky Smith, Chairman of the Council
Councillor Breda Griffin, Vice-Chairman of the Council

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Helen Goral

Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Mrs Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby

Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-
Bellew
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Sue Woolley
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

Agenda
For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held in the Council Chamber at 
12:55pm before the commencement of the meeting. Please be seated by 12:50pm.

1.  Public Open Forum
The public open forum will commence at 1.00 p.m. and the following formal 

Council

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


business of the Council will commence at 1.30 p.m. or whenever the public 
open forum ends, if earlier.

2.  Apologies for Absence

3.  Disclosure of Interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4.  Statement by Councillor Matthew Lee

5.  Election of the Leader of the Council
Members will elect the Leader of the Council.

6.  Announcement on the size and membership of the Cabinet and the 
allocation of Cabinet Members' remits
The Leader will announce the members of the Cabinet, together with details of 
the remits of each of the Cabinet Members.

7.  Minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2019 (Pages 7 - 19)

8.  Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
A list of events attended by the Chairman of the Council.

(Page 21)

9.  Appointments to committees including the appointment of their Chairmen 
and Vice-Chairmen
Report of the Chief Executive.

(Pages 23 - 28)

10.  Appointment of representatives to outside bodies
Report of the Chief Executive.

(Pages 29 - 35)

11.  Climate Emergency - changes to Budget and Policy Framework
Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment asking Council to declare a 
climate emergency.

(Pages 37 - 47)

12.  Amendment to Budget Framework
Report of the Cabinet member for Finance on amending the Budget framework 
in order to the Witham Slea Blue/Green corridor project.

(Pages 49 - 51)

13.  Recommendations from the Constitution Committee
Report of the Chairman of the Constitution Committee on proposals for the 
establishment of the Companies Committee.

(Pages 53 - 62)

14.  Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018/19
Report of the 2018/19 Chairman of the overview and scrutiny committees’ 
chairmen.

(Pages 63 - 87)

15.  Meetings of the Cabinet
Report of the Leader of the Council.

(Pages 89 - 99)



16.  Members' Open Questions
A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 
Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Development Management Committee, Licensing 
and Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committees 
and Governance and Audit Committee.

17.  Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9:

a)  Councillor Ashley Baxter (Pages 101 - 102)

Council believes:

1. All governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to 
limit the negative impacts of Climate Breakdown, and local 
governments that recognise this should not wait for their 
national governments to change their policies. It is important 
for South Kesteven residents that their local authorities 
become carbon neutral at the earliest opportunity

2. Bold climate action can deliver economic benefits in terms of 
new jobs, economic savings and market opportunities (as 
well as improved health, security and well-being for people 
worldwide)

Council resolves to:

1. Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’

2. Set a target for South Kesteven District Council’s operations 
to be carbon neutral by 2030

3. Call on Westminster to provide the powers and resources to 
make the 2030 target possible

4. Integrate carbon reduction measures into all council 
activities, including the activities of the Council’s companies

5. Continue to work with partners across the District, County 
and region to deliver this new goal through all relevant 
strategies and plan

6. Work with other governments (both within the UK and 
internationally) to determine and implement best practice 
methods to limit Global Warming to less than 1.5°

7. As part of the Council’s budget-setting process, allocate an 
additional £100,000 to ‘pump-prime’ sustainability and 
carbon reduction initiatives

8. Request the Cabinet considers appointing an officer 
responsible for driving the Council’s carbon reduction agenda



9. Request the Leader of the Council writes to Lincolnshire 
County Council urging them to recognise the climate 
emergency and take a lead, both in their own operations and 
in working with the Districts, to move as rapidly as possible to 
carbon neutrality 

b)  Councillor Charmaine Morgan (Pages 103 - 104)

1. The Government has stated that the United Kingdom will leave 
the European Union on 31st October, 2019 with or without a 
deal. 

South Kesteven District Council needs to be able to 
demonstrate that it has taken appropriate action to prepare for 
the challenges and opportunities presented by Brexit.

2. Therefore, Council mandates the Leader, Chief Executive and 
Senior Management Team of the Council to produce an 
evidence-based Brexit impact assessment briefing for all 
Councillors. 

The impact assessment will enable informed decisions be made 
by Cabinet members, councillors and officers. It will be a useful 
tool for other affected parties. It will identify the scope of impact, 
scale and severity of impact and associated risks.

3. The briefing is to include:

a) A summary of the forecast impacts of Brexit on South 
Kesteven District Council services (including Council owned 
enterprises);

b) An assessment of the likely risks and opportunities of the 
most likely Brexit scenarios;

c) Details of actions likely to be necessary or beneficial in light 
of Brexit

d) The likely additional costs to the District Council resulting 
from most likely Brexit Scenarios.

4. The briefing is to give full consideration to the likely impacts of 
Brexit on the following:

a) all services provided by, or on behalf of, the Council (and its 
subsidiaries): 

b) the Council’s critical supply chain:

c) residents of South Kesteven

d) businesses within the District. 

5. The briefing is to be produced at the earliest opportunity and 
before 11 October at the latest.

Updates will be provided to Councillors at appropriate intervals.

6. As far as possible the content of the briefing will be available 
within the public domain.  Any information concerning sensitive 



information of a commercial and/or personal nature should be 
appended and clearly indicated as confidential.

7. Publication of the briefing should be followed by a short but 
meaningful consultation with relevant stakeholders including 
Councillors, staff, residents, businesses and other 
organisations.

c)  Councillor Virginia Moran (Page 105)

Council resolves:

1) To refuse permission for use of SKDC assets for any activity 
connected with the Belvoir Hunt (this is to include all land 
and property which is owned or managed by the Council).

2) To refuse any discretionary licence application relating to 
activities of Belvoir Hunt including event licences and so-
called ‘charitable’ street collections.

3) To ensure that all costs associated with preparation, 
management or clearing up after activities connected with 
the Belvoir Hunt are recovered from the organisers.

4) To refuse and withhold any other non-statutory support for 
the Belvoir Hunt.

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday 28 November 2019 is 1pm on 
Friday 15 November 2019.



This page is intentionally left blank



PRESENT
Councillor Jacky Smith Chairman

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Philip Knowles

Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Sue Woolley
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS OFFICERS

Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations (Gary Smith)

Director of Finance (Richard Wyles)
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing 
Delivery (Ken Lyon)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

MINUTES
COUNCIL
THURSDAY, 25 JULY 2019
1.00 PM

7

Agenda Item 7



31. Public Open Forum

Question 1

From: Bob Sandall, Stamford
To: Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council

“For the last 12 years, Stamford Town Council has been run by the Stamford 
Independent Group.

After years of lobbying SKDC, 9 years ago they agreed to give us our Recreation 
Ground back. In that time we have improved the Recreation Ground beyond 
recognition. We have put an extension on the shack, where we now have a youth 
club and it is also used by the mental health group. We have re-designed the tots 
play area and furnished it with new play equipment. We have a nature trail, skate 
park, new toilets, 5 aside football pitch and put electric into the band stand for groups 
to use for shows. The list goes on.

We have done this by keeping the precept for the last 8 of the 9 years for Stamford 
rate payers at zero and last year there was a small decrease in the precept. In other 
words in the 9 years we have had it there have been no increase to the Stamford rate 
payers.

We have proved we can run our parks at no extra cost to the Stamford rate payer.

My question is – Now we are at the start of the new council at SKDC, will the leader 
and the cabinet re-consider their decision and give us our sports fields back – 
Uffington Road and Empingham Road.

You have had talks with us over the last 2 years, but nothing came from them.

As Vice Chairman of the Finance Committee, the Chairman and I would like to restart 
talks in the hope of getting our sports fields back.”

The Deputy Leader thanked Mr. Sandall for his question and stated that prior to the 
election he had met with Councillor Dawson and the clerk to Stamford Town Council 
to discuss the matter. He added that officers had already begun to look at how this 
could be facilitated. The Deputy Leader concluded by saying that he would arrange 
for a meeting to be set up to explore the proposal further and discuss the terms of 
any proposed transfer.

Comment

Rob Shorrock from Grantham had given notice that he wished to make a statement 
on agenda item 8a, which was the notice of motion submitted by Councillor Dilks on 
funding for Lincolnshire Police.

8



During his statement Mr. Shorrock referred to the original motion on police funding, 
which was proposed by Councillor Dilks at the Council meeting on 23 May 2019. The 
motion asked the Council to show its support for Lincolnshire Police, the lobbying of 
local MPs and it raised concerns about increases in the crime rate across the district. 
An announcement was made at the meeting by the Council’s representative on the 
Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel, which indicated that, following a meeting 
between the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Home Secretary, the force 
would receive £10m in additional funding, which Mr Shorrock suggested as the 
reason Council rejected the motion. 

Following the Council meeting on 23 May 2019, it had become clear that the £10m 
increase in funding had been over several years, from a combination of increasing 
the allocation of reserves, increasing the precept and a one-off grant from the Home 
Office. Reference was made to a question that had been submitted at the Council 
meeting on 27 June 2019, which sought to clarify the position and identified that 
there had been a miscommunication that led to the wrong information being shared. 
Since that time the matter had been referred to within the Grantham Journal. 
Reference was made to the content and tone of the published items, with Members’ 
attention being drawn to the explanation given by the Council’s representative on the 
Police and Crime Panel. Mr. Shorrock said he felt that the Council needed to uphold 
the principles of objectivity and accountability by holding its representative on the 
Police and Crime Panel to account; he also hoped that Council would take advantage 
of its opportunity to demonstrate its support for Lincolnshire Police when it 
considered the motion later in the meeting.

Question 2

From: Rob Shorrock, Grantham
To: Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet Member for Finance

“As the portfolio holder responsible for SKDC Finances can you provide a full 
response to the following:

I note InvestSK has recently revised its articles of association and at its AGM in June 
has proposed shifting from a Memorandum of Understanding to a full service contract 
with SKDC, but has not yet filed accounts with Companies House.  

In April, the SKDC record of payments over £500 includes a single payment of 
£413,881.72 to InvestSK. As InvestSK is a company wholly owned by SKDC which 
carries out many functions which used to be delivered directly by the local authority, 
is it not necessary for the company to be transparent and accountable for the use of 
public finances and for InvestSK to publish its own records of expenditure over £500, 
as is required of SKDC, and that any service contract agreed between SKDC and 
InvestSK is properly published, open to scrutiny and ultimately approved by full 
council?”

In responding to the question, the Cabinet Member for Finance stated that the 
financial year for InvestSK was 31 March. In accordance with statutory deadlines the 

9



company was required to file its audited accounts within 9 months of the end of the 
financial year, meaning those accounts would need to be published by 31 December 
2019. He added that there was no requirement for companies that were wholly 
owned by local authorities to publish their payment information. The Cabinet Member 
also referred to the formation of the Companies Committee which would be 
responsible for scrutinising the activity of all the Council’s companies, including 
InvestSK.

As part of his supplementary question Mr. Shorrock referred to a proviso within the 
Transparency Code that placed a requirement that the transparency of any private 
contractor or private partner should be at the same level as the local authority. He 
added that it was up to the Council to determine whether the arrangements in the 
Transparency Code would apply to any private sector providers. Mr. Shorrock asked 
whether those arrangements would be put in place and whether the Cabinet Member 
was aware of the New Local Government Network publication which set out good 
practice in this area. The Cabinet Member for Finance reiterated that scrutiny and 
transparency work would be undertaken by the Companies Committee and this 
would include InvestSK.

32. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bisnauthsing, Jeal, Kingman, 
Manterfield, Ian Stokes, Trotter, Hilary Westropp, Wheeler and Jane Wood.

33. Disclosure of Interests

No interests were disclosed.

34. Minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2019

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2019 were proposed, seconded and 
agreed as a correct record subject to the following amendments:

 Minute number 18: the addition of “Apologies for lateness were received from 
Councillor Ray Wootten.”

 Minute number 29(b): the addition of a sentence to state “While the proposer 
of the original motion accepted supporting the local campaign, his preference 
was clearly supporting the national campaign.”

One Member stated that they did not feel that the minutes provided a complete 
record of the meeting held on 27 June 2019; he did not feel that the way the debate 
was recorded around the start time of Council meetings did not capture attempts 
made by a number of Members to discuss the matter. On the same subject he did 
not consider that accusations of disrespectful behaviour had been captured. He did 
not feel that recording of the items that referred to Lincolnshire Police captured the 
full strength of feeling expressed by Members. He concluded by saying the minutes 
did not capture a comment he made about the Lincolnshire fair share campaign 
carrying the same clout as the national campaign and querying whether the letter 

10



would be sent to all Lincolnshire MPs or only the MPs that represented South 
Kesteven.

Other Members referred to Councillor Ray Wootten, who arrived part-way through the 
meeting, with one stating that they wished the times of his arrival and departure to be 
recorded in the minutes; this information was not available. Instead members agreed 
to settle for including his apologies for lateness to make it clear that he was not 
present for the whole meeting.

35. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)

The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.

36. Interim arrangements: Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service

Copies of the report setting out the recommendations of the Employment Committee 
on interim arrangements for the role of Chief Executive and the Head of Paid Service 
were circulated. 

The meeting adjourned between 13:33 and 13:44 to give Members an opportunity to 
read the report. During the adjournment Paul Thomas left the meeting as the matter 
about to be discussed concerned his proposed appointment as Interim Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service.

The Chairman set out that the agenda item was only to consider the 
recommendations of the Employment Committee on interim arrangements for the 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service and not the departure of the previous 
Chief Executive. She stated that the Council had made an official statement and that 
there was nothing further that would be added to that.

In presenting the report, the Leader of the Council informed Members that prior to the 
Council meeting, the Employment Committee had met to consider interim 
arrangements for the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service. The 
recommendation made by the Employment Committee was to appoint Paul Thomas, 
the Strategic Director, Growth, as the Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid 
Service. This was seconded and the proposal to appoint Mr. Thomas was endorsed.

Several Members spoke in support of the proposal to appoint Mr. Thomas as Interim 
Chief Executive and their experiences of how he had fulfilled his current role. Another 
Member highlighted what he considered to be the benefits of making an internal 
appointment.

One of the Members who spoke expressed their gratitude to Mr. Rave for the support 
he had given them.

A number of the Members expressed concerns that they would not be able to debate 
the departure of the previous Chief Executive. Members referred to the questions 
that had been raised by the public through the local media and stated that they 

11



believed a full explanation was owed about Mr. Rave’s departure, including its 
financial implications. Reference was also made to the wider review of the Council’s 
senior management team and how the resignation of the former Chief Executive 
affected directorships of the Council’s Companies. A Member suggested that 
questions ought to be permitted so that the Council could understand why it was in 
the position where interim arrangements needed to be made. A Councillor 
questioned what assessment had been made of the likely impact of the former Chief 
Executive’s departure, referring specifically to staff morale and their impressions 
around job security. One Member also asked about what lessons had be learned to 
help improve staff retention, with concerns being expressed about the risk of 
appointing a new Chief Executive and them leaving shortly afterwards.

During debate one Member expressed their concerns about whether the Council had 
discharged its duties as an employer, including whether it had followed all relevant 
processes and met contractual obligations, both from a moral and legal standpoint, 
with regard to trust and confidence and the welfare of the individual.

One Member referred to a question he had raised at the meeting on 23 May, which 
the Chief Executive had been asked to address. The matter had not yet been 
resolved and the Councillor asked what would happen with that issue following Mr. 
Rave’s departure.

The Leader was given the opportunity to sum up and referred to the supportive 
comments that had been made across the chamber in respect of the appointment of 
Paul Thomas as Interim Chief Executive. From his experience of working with Mr. 
Thomas he was convinced that he would do a good job. Reference was made to a 
letter that had been sent from Mr. Thomas to elected Members, which set out how he 
intended to work. In summing up, the Leader responded to questions and comments 
that had been raised during debate. He stated that he was aware of the obligations 
placed on the Council as an employer and provided reassurance and the Council 
always followed due process in HR matters. If Members felt that this was not the 
case, he suggested that they had the opportunity to change the Council’s HR 
policies, highlighting work that was already ongoing at meetings of the Employment 
Committee. He felt the making of an interim appointment provided the Council with 
an opportunity to think about how it would undertake the process of recruiting a new 
Chief Executive, the average time for which was 9 months, whilst giving the authority 
stability. He added that the matter that had been handed to Mr. Rave to deal with on 
23 May 2019 would be forwarded to Mr. Thomas should the Council agree his 
appointment.

On being put to the vote, it was unanimously AGREED:

That Council appoints Paul Thomas to the position of Interim Chief Executive, 
with effect from 1 August 2019 until such time as a permanent Chief Executive 
is appointed. The appointment is to include the duties of Head of Paid Service 
(pursuant to s.4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989), the Electoral 
Registration Officer (in fulfilment of the requirement of s.8 of the 
Representation of People Act 1983), the Returning Officer (under the 

12



requirements of s.35(1) of the Representation of the People Act 1983) and the 
full range of duties set down in the Chief Executive’s Job Description set out in 
Appendix A of the report of the Chairman of the Employment Committee.

14:03 – Paul Thomas returned to the meeting

37. Meetings of the Cabinet

Members were asked to note the Leader’s report, which brought the approved 
minutes of Cabinet meetings before Members.

The attached minutes related to the Cabinet meeting held on 11 June 2019. 
Reference was made to a question that had been put by a non-Cabinet Member, 
asking why the Persimmon Estate in Market Deeping was not ready for adoption; at 
the Cabinet’s meeting, the Cabinet Member for Planning had agreed to investigate 
the matter and provide a response. The Cabinet member for Planning stated that he 
would get officers to provide a response to the Councillor straight away.

Members of the Council noted the report and the attached minutes.

38. Members' Open Questions

Question 1

Councillor Wood asked the Leader to clarify how the changes in the senior 
management structure affected the directorships of Council-owned companies. The 
Leader stated that in addition to his resignation from the Council, Mr Rave also 
resigned from the board of InvestSK. It would be up to the Council to go through a 
process to determine a replacement.

Question 2

Councillor Morgan highlighted concerns that had been raised through the Local 
Government Association regarding a lack of government funding and the budgets 
made available to local authorities. She asked about the up-to-date position relating 
to South Kesteven District Council and how the situation affected the Council’s ability 
to budget for the forthcoming period.

The Leader stated that both he and the Deputy Leader regularly attended meetings 
of the Local Government Association and that funding arrangements was an area of 
concern for the whole local government family. He highlighted 3 principal areas that 
would affect the district council; the first was the fairer funding settlement, of which 
work was ongoing, the second was business rate retention and the third was around 
the period over which any spending settlement would last. He added that it remained 
preferable for the present business rate arrangements to continue for another year 
before the introduction of the anticipated new arrangements. He also stated that it 
was difficult to budget from year-to-year without indicative figures; this had led to 
lobbying to ensure councils received a multi-year funding settlement.

13



Question 3

Councillor Steptoe asked Councillor Goral about the potential relocation of Grantham 
leisure centre from the Earlesfield Ward. He asked whether there was any update 
and what form the public consultation before any decision was made would take.

The Cabinet Member for Growth stated that the Council was still defining the 
consultation process. She agreed it was important that, whatever happened to the 
leisure centre, account was taken of the current location and the surrounding 
communities. She was keen to ensure that consultation included residents, local 
business and stakeholders, but also those groups that used the centre to ensure that 
whatever was provided was fit for purpose.

The Cabinet Member for Growth stated that so comments she had received so far 
had been varied and stressed that the outcome of the consultation exercise would be 
the key to determining future arrangements for Grantham leisure centre. She 
reiterated that no decision would be made without consultation and without rigorous 
scrutiny of that consultation. She also made a commitment that the site and 
community would benefit from  any decision that was made and that their views 
would be taken into consideration.

Question 4

Councillor Dilks asked the Leader to confirm whether a PR consultant who had 
previously been engaged by the Council was now working for the authority. He asked 
that if the individual was once again working for the Council, whether he was being 
employed directly or as a consultant. The Leader stated that a job had been 
advertised for which the individual had applied; the vacancy had been subject to a full 
recruitment process in which he had not been involved. He stated that the individual 
was now working as an employee of the Council.

Question 5

A question was put to the Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Councillor Baxter referred to a workshop of the Committee that was 
scheduled to take place on 30 July 2019 on climate change. He asked why an 
invitation to the meeting had not been extended to other members of the Council or 
the public. He felt that such an invitation should be extended beyond the membership 
of the committee as the workshop was taking place at the behest of a formal 
committee of the Council. The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee stated that the meeting on 30 July 2019 was a workshop for members of 
the committee only and was not open to the public.

Question 6

Councillor Knowles referred to reports that indicated £800k had been spent on 
replacing staff and updating the management team. Following the departure of a 

14



further senior staff member, he asked the Leader how many non-disclosure 
agreements had been signed since he took up office, and how much they had cost 
the Council.

The Leader committed to send a written response to all members of the Council on 
the matter. He stated that the Council had never hidden how much it had spent to re-
shape the organisation in terms of senior managers. He stated that the changes that 
had been made had generated £300k worth of savings. In the first few years 
following a review, the savings would be used to offset expenditure. After that 
payback period, the Council would have the opportunity to reinvest those savings. He 
stated that although there were costs associated with restructuring, there were also 
significant savings attached.

Question 7

Councillor Moran referred to a question that had been put at the last meeting of 
Council about leisure centres. She stated that at that time Members had been 
advised that nothing could be announced because negotiations with landowners 
were still ongoing, however money for feasibility work had been approved. She 
suggested that it would have been more appropriate to conduct feasibility work prior 
to engagement with landowners. She also referred to leisure facilities in Grantham 
and the work being undertaken to review the offer within the town. She considered 
the facilities in Grantham to be adequate. She expressed concern about the potential 
impact the consideration of arrangements for Grantham might have on the delivery of 
a new leisure centre for the Deepings. She asked whether there was an indication of 
when people in the Deepings might expect their new leisure facility.

The Cabinet Member for Growth reassured the Council that whatever happened in 
Grantham would have no bearing on any of the other towns in the district. She 
confirmed that the review of facilities of Grantham had always been intended. She 
stated that feedback received about current leisure provision in Grantham indicated 
that work was needed and that the cost of maintaining the facilities to achieve a 
‘stand-still’ position would mean spending millions of pounds with no public 
perception of change. She said that, by the September Council meeting, she would 
be in a position to give a better indication about when the new leisure centre for the 
Deepings might happen. Reiterating that negotiation with landowners was still 
ongoing, Members were advised that there were occasions when the Council was 
beholden to third parties and therefore prevented from making statements.

39. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9:

(a) Councillor Phil Dilks

Councillor Dilks proposed his notice of motion: 

This Council resolves to: 

15



1. Instruct the Chief Executive to write to all Lincolnshire MPs to lobby for a 
fairer funding settlement for Lincolnshire Police particularly given the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s warning of a £6.5 million funding gap 
next year.

2. Formally invite the Police and Crime Commissioner to an evidence-based 
scrutiny of all aspects of crime and policing across South Kesteven. 
Council requests that in the light of recent events and to ensure public 
confidence, it would be inappropriate for scrutiny of policing to be chaired 
by Councillor Ray Wootten.

3. Urge the Leader of the Council to consider replacing Councillor Wootten 
as the Council’s representative on the Police and Crime Panel to ensure 
that the public – and this Council – can have confidence that future 
information provided regarding policing and police funding is accurate and 
properly researched.

In proposing his motion Councillor Dilks stated that his intention when it was first put 
forward on 23 May 2019 was to support the Police and Crime Commissioner’s fairer 
funding campaign in the face of a funding shortfall, a reduction in police numbers, 
and an increase in crime, specifically violent and sexual offences. He referred to a 
statement that was made during debate at that meeting, which indicated that the 
Police and Crime Commissioner had secured an additional £10m funding and gave 
an assurance that there would be no cuts. It subsequently transpired that the 
additional grant funding awarded to the Police and Crime Commissioner was not for 
£10m and that there was an expectation that by the end of 2019, there would be 50 
fewer police officers than at the start of the year. This position had been confirmed 
through a request made to the Police and Crime Commissioner under the Freedom 
of Information Act. Reference was also made to a question that was put at a previous 
meeting of the Council, the response to which suggested that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner had been misinterpreted. The member who had made the statement 
at the meeting on 23 May 2019 was not present at the time that question had been 
put. Reference was made to letters that had been published in the Journal and to a 
feeling that the subject had been turned into a political issue. He stated that the 
Council should expect the highest standards of probity, and where a mistake had 
been made, there should be an expectation that the Council should be given an 
explanation and an apology. The proposition was seconded.

Reference was made to the answer that had been given to the question that was put 
at the previous meeting, which indicated that Councillor Wootten had prepared a 
statement to Council. He had not, however, been present at a point when it could be 
presented. Councillor Wootten was given the opportunity to make his statement, in 
which he explained that the information he had given Council previously had been 
provided in good faith and that he would never deliberately mislead the Council. He 
said that he felt the comments that had been made by other Members and within the 
press were a slur on his character. The statement proceeded to clarify some of the 
comments that were included within his speech, specifically that police officers could 
not be made redundant. Finally, he addressed his attendance at the meeting, stating 

16



that he had arrived during the debate on trees but had left the meeting during the 
vote as he had not been present for the whole item. Accusations were made about 
Councillors behaving disrespectfully and Councillor Wootten called for an apology to 
be made to him.

Debate on the motion ensued. Members referred to the new Prime Minister’s 
commitment to increase police funding by £1.1bn and plans to put an extra 20,000 
police officers on the beat by 2022. Members noted that the Lincolnshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner was holding public assurance meetings. Reference was made 
by Members to experiences of crime within their Wards and the impact that the 
reduction of funding had had on the number of police officers to date.

Several Members who spoke on the motion suggested that the political machinations 
of two members were distracting attention from the issue of lobbying for fairer funding 
for Lincolnshire Police and affecting the way members of the public perceived the 
Council. Calls were also made for Councillor Wootten to apologise to the Chamber; 
Members noted that whilst his intention may not have been to mislead the Council, 
the information he had provided was incorrect and therefore felt it would be 
appropriate for him to make an apology. With the intention of focusing debate back 
on police funding, an amendment was proposed and seconded on the proviso that 
Councillor Wootten apologised to the Council:

This Council resolves to:

1. Instruct the Chief Executive to write to all Lincolnshire MPs to lobby for a 
fairer funding settlement for Lincolnshire Police particularly given the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s warning of a £6.5 million funding gap 
next year.

2. Formally invite the Police and Crime Commissioner to an evidence-based 
scrutiny of all aspects of crime and policing across South Kesteven.

Several Members indicated that they would be prepared to support the amendment if 
an apology was made based on setting straight the public record and working 
together to rebuild public confidence. Accusations regarding disrespectful behaviour 
were refuted, suggesting that the way the issue was being played out was part of the 
cut and thrust of politics.

A proposition was made and seconded that the question be now put, however the 
Chairman, in accordance with article 4.11.11 (iii) did not consider that the matter had 
been sufficiently discussed and allowed the debate to continue.

Other Members who spoke reiterated concerns that political manoeuvrings were 
detracting from the issue that had been at the heart of the original motion. There was 
recognition that the statement made by Councillor Wootten in the first instance had 
been an honest mistake, for which Members considered it would be appropriate for 
him to apologise. In summing up on the amendment, reference was made to the 
funding shortfall and the reduction in the number of police officers by the end of the 

17



year. The proposer of the original motion stated that he was happy to support the 
amendment, on the basis of an apology being made, as he saw the statement that 
indicated there would be an additional £10m of funding as responsible for the defeat 
of the initial motion.

Councillor Wootten was given the opportunity to apologise; he said that he had 
nothing further to add to the statement that he had already made. This led the 
proposer of the amendment to say that she wished to withdraw it; the seconder 
agreed, and Council indicated its consent to the withdrawal of the motion by a show 
of hands. Members returned to the substantive motion.

It was proposed and seconded that the question be now put, however the Chairman, 
in accordance with article 4.11.11 (iii) did not consider that the matter had been 
sufficiently discussed and allowed the debate to continue. 

Notice was given of an intention to make a further amendment; the Chairman agreed 
to a brief adjournment to enable representatives from across the Chamber to devise 
the wording of an amendment that would be acceptable to all groups.

15:15-15:30 – the meeting adjourned

An amendment was proposed and seconded:

This Council resolves to:

1. Ask the Leader to write to all Lincolnshire MPs to lobby for a fairer 
funding settlement for Lincolnshire Police particularly given the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s warning of a £6.5 million funding gap next 
year.

2. Formally invite the Police and Crime Commissioner to a meeting to 
discuss all aspects of crime and policing across South Kesteven.

Support for the motion was expressed and a comment made about how the Council 
would need to reflect on what had happened and its potential ramifications.

In summing up, disappointment was expressed that no apology had been 
forthcoming, however, the proposer of the original motion stated he would be grateful 
if the Council could support Lincolnshire Police in its need for funding. On being put 
to the vote, the amendment was carried and became the substantive motion. The 
new substantive motion was put to the vote and carried, and Council AGREED:

This Council resolves to:

1. Ask the Leader to write to all Lincolnshire MPs to lobby for a fairer 
funding settlement for Lincolnshire Police particularly given the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s warning of a £6.5 million funding gap next 
year.

18



2. Formally invite the Police and Crime Commissioner to a meeting to 
discuss all aspects of crime and policing across South Kesteven.

40. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 15:37.

19



This page is intentionally left blank



List of Chairman’s Engagements
26 July 2019 – 26 September 2019

Date Ref Organisation and Event Location

Thursday 
01.08.19

JS0034 Visit to Citizens Advice  Bureau 39 High Street, Stamford

Saturday 
24.08.19
Sunday 
25.08.19

JS0027 British Model National Flying 
Championships

Barkston Heath, Grantham

Saturday 
31.08.19 and 
Sunday 
01.09.19

JS0028 Bourne CiCLE Festival Bourne

Tuesday
03.09.19

JS0029 Merchant Navy Association Flag raising Outside the Civic Suite, South 
Kesteven House

Thursday 
05.09.19

JS0038 Launch the residents’ book
The Elder Tree Project

Gregory House
Grantham

Saturday 
07.09.19

JS0026 Service of Dedication for the new RBL 
Standard

St Wulfram’s Church

Sunday 
08.09.19

JS0039 Party in the Park
Rutland

Oakham

Monday 
09.09.19

JS0032 Emergency Flag raising Outside Civic Entrance

Monday 
09.09.19

JS0041 Anniversary Afternoon Tea at St Barnabas St Barnabas, Grantham 

Friday 
13.09.19

JS0042 Opening  of Lock 15 - Stenwith Stenwith Bridge, Grantham Canal

Saturday 
14.09.19

Day 
events

Various Gravity Field events researching 
events for next year’s Gravity Fields

Various venues

Saturday 
14.09.19

JS0045 Reception prior to the 
Bridge Event 

Grantham Market Place

Sunday 
15.09.19

JS0030 Stamford Battle of Britain Service and 
Parade

Process from the Stamford Town 
Hall 

Wednesday 
18.09.19

JS0047 LotterySK Anniversary Jubilee Life Centre

Thursday 
19.09.19

JS0043 CAB Annual General Meeting
80th Anniversary

Jubilee Church Life Centre

Friday 
20.09.19

JS0040 Unveiling of the RNA Bench St Peter’s Hill outside the Mayors 
Parlour

Sunday 
22.09.19

JS0035 Melton borough Council Civic Service St Bartholomew’s Church Sproxton, 
Melton Mowbray, LE14 4RA

Sunday 
22.09.19

JS0033 West Lindsey Chairman’s Civic Service St Mary’s Church, Welton LN2 3HZ

Thursday 
26.09.19 

JS0044 Stamford  Georgian Festival 
Opening night Drinks Reception

Stamford Arts Centre

Sunday 
29.09.19

JS0036 NKDC Civic Service St Andrew’s Church, Leasingham, 
NG34 8JP

21

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: The Chief Executive

        

Appointments to committee, (including overview and 
scrutiny committees) and panels of the Council and 
the appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen
This report provides an opportunity for the Council to review the appointment of Members to its 
committees and panel, and the appointment of their Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen.

Group leaders are responsible for nominating members from within their group to fill seats on the 
Council’s committees and panels taking account of the requirements for political balance. The 
Leader of the Council will make recommendations in respect of any changes to the chairmanships 
and vice-chairmanships of the Council’s committees.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Regulatory All Wards

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 17 September 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive Choose date

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That any adjustments are made to appointments to the Council’s committees and 
panels taking account of the requirements for political balance (excluding the 
Companies Committee to which members have already been appointed)

2. That the Council makes any adjustments to the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of its 
committees (including overview and scrutiny committees)

23

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


3. That the Leader announces the appointment of a Chairman of the joint meetings of 
the respective overview and scrutiny committees to act as the Chairman of any 
meeting referred to in article 7 of the Council’s Constitution

1 Membership of Committees and Panels
1.1 At the Annual Council meeting held on 23 May 2019, the Council agreed a calculation of 

political balance (Appendix 1) so that it could make appointments to its committees and 
panels in line with Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the 
Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. These 
appointments were updated by Council on 27 June 2019.

1.2 When making appointments, there are a number of factors that must be taken into 
consideration:

 In order to demonstrate a robust and effective scrutiny process, no member of the 
Cabinet may sit on an overview and scrutiny committee or on Companies Committee

 The membership of the Chief Executive’s Appeal Panel must include at least one 
member of the Cabinet

 Members of the Chief Executive’s Appeal Panel should not be members of the 
Employment Committee so that any appeal lodged is considered by Members who 
have not previously considered any issues that may arise

2 Chairmanship of Committees/Panels
2.1 The Constitution states that the chairmen and vice-chairmen of the Council’s committees 

and panels should be appointed by Council following the advice of the Leader on the 
suitability and merit of the candidates. It is not necessary for the Council to appoint a 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman for the Chief Executive’s Appeal Panel.

2.2 Article 7 of the Council’s Constitution makes provision for the Leader of the Council to 
appoint one of the overview and scrutiny committee chairmen to lead the joint working of 
overview and scrutiny committee. 

3 Companies Committee
3.1 Appointments to the Companies Committee and its Chairman and Vice-Chairman will be 

dealt with as part of agenda item 13, when Council will consider the recommendations of 
the Constitution Committee in respect of the formation of the Companies Committee.

4 Available Options Considered
4.1 The Council must either comply with the provisions of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989 and apply the principles of political balance or agree to make alternative 
arrangements. If a group does not wish to take up all the seats to which it is entitled, it 
may gift that seat to another group or an unaligned member. Members may agree 
alternative arrangements that do not reflect the Council’s political balance; in this instance 
no member may vote against any such proposition.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government (Committees 

and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 introduced a statutory requirement that, where a 
relevant authority has a membership divided into different political groups, it must ensure 
that appointments reflect the overall proportion as that in which the Council as a whole is 
divided. Those appointments to which the rules of political balance apply are:

24



 Ordinary committees or sub-committees of the authority

 Advisory committees and any subcommittees appointed by an advisory committee

 Specified prescribed bodies where at least three seats have to be filled by the relevant 
authority 

5.2 The legislation also requires that in appointing members on a political proportional basis, it 
should, as far as possible, conform with the following principles:

a) That not all seats are appointed to the same political group
b) That a political group with an overall Council majority gets a majority of seats 

allocated
c) Subject to (a) and (b) that the total number of seats each political group has on all 

ordinary committees is in proportion to that group’s share of the total Council 
elected membership

d) Subject to (a) and (c) that each political group has the same proportion of seats as 
it holds on the Council as a whole

5.3 Under these Regulations, to constitute a political group, Members have to sign to state 
that they wish to be treated as a member of a political group. The Regulations mean that 
Members who do not align themselves to a political group (i.e. non-aligned Members) do 
not have any right to be appointed to any Council Committee.

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 Provision for the special responsibility allowances payable in respect of appointments 

within this report is made within the Members’ allowances budget.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 In making appointments to its committees and panels, the Council is required to comply 

with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government (Committees 
and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. These set out requirements relating to political 
balance and the application of this principle to prescribed categories of meeting and 
makes provision for alternative arrangements. To agree alternative arrangements, no 
Members of the authority present at the meeting may vote against the alternative 
arrangements. This means that abstentions would not defeat the vote. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
8.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report.

9 Risk and Mitigation
9.1 Risk has been considered during the preparation of this report and no significant risks 

were identified.

10 Community Safety Implications 
10.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.

11 Background Papers
11.1 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

25



http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-
oncommittees-etc 

11.2 Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made 

12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix 1: Political balance calculations

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Council 27 June 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  26 September 2019

26

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-oncommittees-etc
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-oncommittees-etc
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made


Political balance of the Council

Group Seats %
Consevative 39 70%
Independent 12 21% (including 2 Liberal Democrats aligned with the Independent Group)
Labour 3 5%
Unaligned 2 4% Unaligned councillors are not entitled to a seat as the calculation is

based on political groups

Committees of the Council

Planning Committee Licensing Committee

Total seats 13 Total seats 11

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 9.053571429 9 Consevative 7.660714286 8
Independent 2.785714286 3 Independent 2.357142857 2
Labour 0.696428571 1 Labour 0.589285714 1
Unaligned N/A Unaligned N/A

13 11

Governance & Audit Committee Constitution Committee

Total seats 7 Total seats 7

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 4.875 5 Consevative 4.875 5
Independent 1.5 2 Independent 1.5 2
Labour 0.375 0 Labour 0.375 0
Unaligned N/A Unaligned N/A

7 7

Employment Committee

Total seats 7

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 4.875 5
Independent 1.5 2
Labour 0.375 0
Unaligned N/A

7

27

Appendix 1



Overview & Scrutiny Committees

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Total seats 9

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 6.267857143 6
Independent 1.928571429 2
Labour 0.482142857 1
Unaligned N/A

9

Culture & Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural & Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Total seats 7

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 4.875 5
Independent 1.5 2
Labour 0.375 0
Unaligned N/A

7

Other

Chief Executive's Appeals Panel

Total seats 3

Group Proportional
entitlement

Entitlement
rounded

Consevative 2.089285714 2
Independent 0.642857143 1
Labour 0.160714286
Unaligned N/A

3

28



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Paul Thomas
Interim Chief Executive

        

Representatives on Outside Bodies
At the annual Council meeting on 23 May 2019, the Council appointed representatives to outside 
bodies. This report provides an opportunity for the Council to refresh its appointments.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 17 September 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 18 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That the Council considers making any updates to its appointments to the 
organisations seeking district council representation

29

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council makes appointments to a range of outside bodies. Most appointments run for 

four years, coinciding with the four-yearly elections. There is no formal arrangement 
whereby political balance must be achieved with these appointments – appointments are 
offered to all members.

1.2 Council made its appointment at the annual meeting on 23 May 2019. A copy of the 
appointments made on 23 May 2019 are attached as Appendix 1 to the report. 

1.3 When making appointments to some outside bodies, there are a number of requirements 
that must be taken into account.

Dame Margaret Thorold Educational Foundation
1.4 The Council’s representative should be from the area in which the Foundation operates, 

which incorporates the Belvoir, Viking and Peascliffe and Ridgeway Wards.

Deeping St. James United Charities
1.5 The representative must live within the ecclesiastical parish of Deeping St. James and 

Frognall.

Flood and Water Management Scrutiny Committee
1.6 The Council’s representative on the Lincolnshire Flood and Water Management Scrutiny 

Committee is required to be a member of one of this authority’s overview and scrutiny 
committees.

Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee
1.7 The Council’s representative on the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee and their 

reserve are required to be a member of one of this authority’s overview and scrutiny 
committees.

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel
1.8 The membership of this panel must reflect the political balance of local authorities across 

the county. As the administering body, East Lindsey District Council has indicated that the 
appointment should be made from South Kesteven District Council’s majority group.

Thomas Truesdale’s Hospital
1.9 Following the appointment made by the Council at its annual meeting, notification was 

received advising that a district council representative was no longer required as the seat 
had reverted to Stamford Town Council.

East Midlands Councils and the Local Government Association
1.10 Appointments to both East Midlands Councils and the Local Government Association are 

filled by the Leader of the Council, or, in the Leader’s absence, the Deputy Leader.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 The Council could decline to make an appointment or appointments unless there was a 

legal requirement to do so.

3 Preferred Option
3.1 Council makes appointments to the following outside bodies:

30



Organisation No. of 
reps

Term of 
office

End date

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board 1 3 years March 2020

Dame Margaret Thorold Educational Foundation 1 4 years January 
2020

Deeping St. James United Charities 1 4 years May 2023

East Midlands Councils 1 1 year May 2020

Elsea Park Community Trust 1 4 years May 2023

Grantham Almshouse Charity 1 4 years May 2023

Grantham Canal Partnership 1 4 years May 2023

Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership 1 4 years May 2023

Heritage Lincolnshire 1 4 years May 2023

Joseph Clark’s (Grantham) Apprenticing 
Foundation

2 4 years May 2023

Lincolnshire County Council Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny Committee

1 4 years May 2023

Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 1 (plus 1 
reserve)

4 years May 2023

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel 1 4 years May 2023

Lincolnshire Sports Partnership 1 4 years May 2023

Local Government Association 1 1 year May 2020

South Lincolnshire Fenlands Partnership 1 4 years May 2023

South Kesteven Citizen’s Advice Bureau 3 4 years May 2023

Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board 3 3 years March 2020

Welland and Deeping Internal Drainage Board 4 3 years March 2020

4 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
4.1 Where changes have been made to the Councillors who represent South Kesteven District 

Council on outside bodies, their profiles will be updated on the Council’s website and the 
outside bodies will be advised of the change.

5 Financial Implications 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

6 Legal and Governance Implications 
6.1 There is no requirement to register appointment to such bodies as disclosable pecuniary 

interests unless remuneration by way of profit or gain is received from the body for 
attendance, or shares or land are held by the Member appointed as a trustee or otherwise.

31



6.2 In the event that a conflict of interest arises for any Member appointed between the 
interests of the council and the interests of the body, an interest may need to be disclosed 
whenever the issue to which the interest relates is discussed.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

7 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
7.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report.

8 Risk and Mitigation
8.1 Risk has been considered as part of the preparation of this report and no specific high 

risks were identified.

9 Community Safety Implications 
9.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.

10 Other Implications (where significant) 
10.1 Travelling expenses are payable to Councillors who attend meetings of outside bodies to 

which they have been appointed by the Council. Provision is made within the Legal and 
Democratic Services budget for the payment of travel expenses.

11 Background Papers
11.1 None

12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix 1: List of appointments made at Council on 23 May 2019

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Council 23 May 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date 26 September 2019

32



Agenda item 12: Appointment of representatives to outside bodies

Organisation No. of 
reps

Term of 
Office

End date Notes Current rep(s)

Black Sluice Internal Drainage 
Board

1 3 years March 2020 Vacancy for the remainder of 
the term as appointment was 
previously filled by Councillor 
Bob Russell

Councillor Chris Benn

Dame Margaret Thorold 
Educational Foundation

1 4 years January 2020 Should be a rep from the 
area in which the charity 
operates

Councillor Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown

Deeping St James United 
Charities

1 4 years May 2023 The representative must live 
within the ecclesiastical 
parish of Deeping St. James 
and Frognall

Councillor Judy Stevens 

East Midlands Councils* 1 1 year May 2020 The Leader or in his absence, 
the Deputy Leader

Elsea Park Community Trust 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Robert Reid 

Grantham Almshouse Charity 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Ray Wootten

Grantham Canal Partnership 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Mark Whittington

Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership

1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Matthew Lee

Sub: Councillor Kelham 
Cooke

Heritage Lincolnshire 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Matthew Lee 

33

A
ppendix 1



Agenda item 12: Appointment of representatives to outside bodies

Organisation No. of 
reps

Term of 
Office

End date Notes Current rep(s)

Joseph Clark’s (Grantham) 
Apprenticing Foundation

2 4 years May 2023 Councillor Jacky Smith

Councillor Annie Mason

Lincolnshire County Council 
Flood and Drainage 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee

1 4 years May 2023 Must be a member of an SK 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew   

Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny 
Committee

1 (plus 
1 
reserve)

4 years May 2023 Both representative and 
reserve must be members of 
an SK Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown

Sub: Councillor Linda 
Wootten 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime 
Panel

1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Ray Wootten 

Lincolnshire Sports Partnership 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor John Cottier

Local Government Association* 1 1 year May 2020 The Leader or in his absence, 
the Deputy Leader

South Lincolnshire Fenlands 
Partnership

1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew

South Kesteven Citizen’s Advice 
Bureau

3 4 years May 2023 Councillor Gloria Johnson

Councillor Robert Reid

Councillor Linda Wootten

34



Agenda item 12: Appointment of representatives to outside bodies

Organisation No. of 
reps

Term of 
Office

End date Notes Current rep(s)

Thomas Truesdales Hospital 1 4 years May 2023 Councillor Susan Sandall

Upper Witham Internal 
Drainage Board

3 3 years March 2020 Of the three existing 
appointees, two remain in 
office. As Councillor Craft did 
not seek re-election, Council 
will need to appoint a 
replacement to serve the 
remainder of his term to 
March 2020.

Councillor Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown

Councillor Ian Stokes

Councillor Chris Benn

Welland and Deepings 
Internal Drainage Board

4 3 years March 2020 Council is not required to 
make appointments to the 
Welland and Deeping IDB 
because all four of the current 
appointees were re-elected. 
Should any of those 
appointees wish to step 
down, Council would need to 
nominate a replacement to 
serve the remainder of their 
term

Councillor Bob Broughton

Councillor Jacky Smith

Councillor Rosemary 
Trollope-Bellew

Councillor Phil Dilks 

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial & 
Operations

        

Climate Emergency 
Public understanding and awareness of the causes and effects of climate change has increased 
significantly over the last few years.  In response, in May 2019 the UK parliament was the first in 
the world to declare a ‘climate and environment emergency’.  This followed growing pressure after 
the Committee on Climate Change’s report on net-zero carbon emissions, weeks of protests about 
perceived government inaction and political meetings with climate figurehead Greta Thunberg.  
Television documentaries, particularly David Attenborough’s ‘Blue Planet’ and ‘Planet Earth’ on 
the BBC, and ‘Our Planet’ on Netflix have also helped to highlight climate change and increase 
public interest.

This report sets out South Kesteven District Council’s (SKDC) declaration of a ‘climate emergency’ 
and ambition to reduce its carbon footprint between now and 2030 and become net-zero carbon 
by 2050.

Report Author

Debbie Roberts, Corporate Project Officer 

 01476 40 60 80

debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation & 
Change 29 August 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial & 
Operations 30 August 2019

Signed off by: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial & Operations 30 August 2019

37

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Cabinet recommends to Council that:
1. South Kesteven District Council declares a ‘climate emergency’.
2. In response to this, that Council:

a. Confirms the political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 
and to become net-zero carbon by 2050.  This encompasses the Council’s wholly 
owned companies.

b. Recognises the importance of the much more far-reaching impact of the Council’s 
community leadership role to reduce South Kesteven’s carbon footprint (eg 
residents, businesses, other public sector organisations, visitors/commuters, etc).

c. Requests the Interim Chief Executive to establish a ‘Climate Change Action’ task and 
finish group to:

i. identify how the Council’s activities can work towards being net-zero carbon; 
ii. consider the latest climate science and expert advice on solutions; 
iii. consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the 

Council’s activities;
iv. establish any budgetary implications; and  
v. liaise with the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and report initial 

findings to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee in spring 2020.
d. Allocate up to £50,000 to enable external advice and the recruitment of a Climate 

Change Officer with the agreement of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to drive forward the Council’s ambition to be net-zero carbon, as 
supported by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

38



1 Introduction
1.1 This report sets out the Council’s positive, proactive and ambitious goals to contribute to 

the global efforts to tackle climate change.  The ‘climate emergency’ declaration and 
commitments represent a major milestone which have far-reaching implications across the 
breadth of services and activities.

1.2 Council is asked to approve the recommendations which pledge to reduce the 
organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to become net-zero carbon by 2050.  Whilst 
significant carbon emission reductions will be necessary, carbon off-setting will be a 
critical element of achieving net-zero carbon.

1.3 This paper provides both the climate change international context and the impact of 
climate change on Council services. It also sets out the proposed response to climate 
change and reaching net-zero carbon for the organisation.  The report goes on to cover 
the likely service impact and key implications of delivering net-zero carbon across the 
Council’s activities.

1.4 It is recognised that there will be significant challenges to achieve the ambitious net-zero 
carbon commitment but there are, similarly, risks of not doing so.  This report seeks to 
confirm the Council aspirations and sets out an approach to develop a specific climate 
change action plan and to build a wider community movement for change.

2 Climate Change Context
2.1 There is no precise or accepted international definition of a ‘climate emergency’ but it is 

generally taken to mean immediate action and developing policy to mitigate climate 
change beyond current government targets and international agreements.

2.2 Paris Climate Change Agreement – On the 12 December 2015, parties to the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) reached a landmark 
agreement to combat climate change and to accelerate and intensify the actions and 
investments needed for a sustainable low carbon future.  The Paris Agreement for the first 
time brought all nations into collective agreement on the science and commitment to 
undertake ambitious efforts to combat climate change and adapt to its effects, with 
enhanced support to assist developing countries to do so.  It came into force on 4 
November 2016 after ratification by 55 countries that account for at least 55% of global 
emissions.  The UK signed it on 18 December 2016.  The Paris Agreement’s central aim is 
to keep the global temperature rise this century well below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-
industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5 
degree Celsius. 

2.3 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Special Report – The Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is a United Nations body comprising of thousands of 
international scientists who provide governments with regular reports on the best available 
science to support the development of climate policies.  Its Special Report ‘Global 
Warming of 1.5 degree Celsius’ published in October 2018 (see Appendix One) was the 
first in a series of reports in response to the Paris Climate Agreement.  It outlined that to 
limit warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, a rapid and unprecedented decarbonisation of our 
entire economy and society would be required before 2030.  It stated that:

39



“Limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius compared to 2 degrees Celsius 
would reduce challenging impacts on ecosystems, human health and well-being” … 
“Avoiding overshoot and reliance on future large scale deployment of carbon dioxide 
removal can only be achieved if global CO2 emissions start to decline well before 
2030”. 

2.4 Committee on Climate Change Report – The government asked its advisory body, the 
Committee on Climate Change (CCC) to reassess the UK’s long-term emissions targets.  
Its report reviewed the work of the IPCC and others, and was published in May 2019.  It 
suggested a national net-zero emissions target by 2050 and stated:

“A net-zero target for 2050 will deliver on the commitment that the UK made by 
signing the Paris Agreement.  It is achievable with known technologies, alongside 
improvements in people’s lives, and within the expected economic cost that 
Parliament accepted when it legislated the existing 2050 target for an 80% reduction 
from 1990.  However, this is only possible if clear, stable and well-designed policies 
to reduce emissions further are introduced across the economy without delay.  
Current policy is insufficient for even the existing targets”. 

2.5 The report stated that if other countries followed the UK there was a 50/50 chance of 
staying below the recommended 1.5 degree Celsius temperature rise by 2100 which was 
considered a dangerous tipping point for changes to the world’s climate. 

2.6 Government response to CCC Report – On the 27 June 2019  the UK became the first 
major economy in the world to pass laws to end its contribution to global warming by 2050.  
The target will require the UK to bring all greenhouse gas emissions to net-zero by 2050, 
compared with the previous target of at least 80% reduction from 1990 levels.

2.7 Councils’ responses – Across the East Midlands local authorities have taken an interest, 
with a number declaring a climate emergency (including the City of Lincoln, North 
Kesteven District Council, Leicestershire County Council, Nottingham City Council, Melton 
Borough Council, Peterborough City Council, Newark & Sherwood District Council, 
Rushcliffe Borough Council, Broxtowe Borough Council, Harborough District Council, 
Kettering Borough Council).  Lincolnshire County Council has increased its emissions 
reduction target but has stopped short of declaring an emergency.  Nationally over 100 
Councils have declared a climate emergency.

3 Impacts of Climate Change on Council Services
3.1 Climate change is expected to increase the frequency of extreme weather events and 

mean higher overall temperatures which will affect the health, wellbeing and safety of 
residents.  This will also – and is already beginning to – have a direct impact across the 
range of Council services:

 Heat waves: Extended periods of hotter than average temperatures in the summer 
means that normal hours of operation will need to be revisited.  For instance, shift 
patterns being changed for staff who operate outside to avoid working during the middle 
of the day when the high surface temperature and the ultraviolet radiation peaks. 

 Flooding: Increased instances of flooding will mean some areas will not be accessible 
for all types of service and the wider impact on flooded households will require 
significant additional support/services from the Council and other partners. 

40



 Snow: Extreme isolated events with the snow and ice being heavier and longer lasting 
than the last few decades will mean that some services will need to be suspended for 
safety reasons.  This may create a service pressure if a backlog accrues which needs to 
be dealt with when the snow and ice recedes.

4 South Kesteven District Council Response
4.1 This report proposes that the Council declares a ‘climate emergency’ and sets out the 

political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to become net-
zero carbon by 2050 (this encompasses the Council’s wholly owned companies).

4.2 Net-zero carbon means balancing carbon dioxide emissions with the 
removal/sequestering of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, to make up for carbon 
dioxide emissions elsewhere.  Reaching net-zero carbon relies on a combination of 
reducing carbon emissions and carbon off-setting.

4.3 Reducing the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and becoming net-zero carbon by 
2050 is a substantial undertaking which will have profound implications for the Council and 
its services.  It will involve a radical service redesign in many instances.  Achieving net-
zero carbon will require a step-change in carbon efficiency, closed-loop supply chains and 
environmental sustainability.  It will affect all aspects of the Council’s operation, 
fuel/energy use, buildings, supply chain and contractors.  It is likely that the Council would 
need to commit to embracing all relevant technologies and consider the impact on existing 
strategies and plans.

4.4 Achieving net-zero carbon will require dedicated focus to identify options for how this 
could best be delivered to both radically reduce the Council’s carbon footprint and engage 
in carbon off-setting initiatives.  Carbon off-setting schemes enable organisations and 
individuals to invest in environmental initiatives around the world to balance their own 
carbon footprint.  These initiatives are often based in developing countries and usually are 
designed to reduce future emissions.  Carbon off-setting initiatives can also be developed 
locally.  Carbon off-setting projects can involve renewable energy, methane 
collection/combustion, energy efficiency, reforestation and fuel switching.  The Council will 
seek to work with a network of partners to develop or buy-in to the most appropriate mix of 
carbon off-setting initiatives.

4.5 There will be significant financial implications to deliver net-zero carbon that will need to 
be properly assessed and understood, although there will also be cost to save 
investments which will provide longer-term savings.  At this stage, there is no way to 
accurately calculate the full financial cost.  For this reason, it is proposed that a ‘Climate 
Change Action’ task and finish group is established to identify how the Council’s activities 
can work towards being net-zero carbon; consider the latest climate science and expert 
advice on solutions; consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities; and establish any budgetary implications.  

4.6 In the meantime, it is proposed that up to £50,000 is allocated to enable external advice 
and the recruitment of a Climate Change Officer straight away to drive forward the 
Council’s ambition to be net-zero carbon.  Recurring funds for this post will be built in to 
the 2020/21 budget preparation and any additional budgetary requirements would be 
assessed by the ‘Climate Change Action’ task and finish group. 

41



4.7 Alongside taking action to contribute to the reduction in the trajectory and pace of climate 
change, the Council will also increasingly need to consider climate change adaptations to 
mitigate the negative impacts or service disruption related to climate change.  

4.8 Whilst the Council has an important role to play to reduce its carbon footprint, it is 
important to recognise the vast majority of carbon emissions from South Kesteven are 
generated by residents, businesses, other public sector organisations and 
visitors/commuters.  The Council has both a responsibility and opportunity to provide 
community leadership to sign others up to take action to reduce their carbon footprint and 
to create a real movement for change.

5 Carbon Reduction – Council Service Impact & Key Implications 
5.1 Growth – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.2 In instances where the Council is undertaking growth and development schemes it will 

embed sustainability and particularly the commitment to reduce the carbon footprint of the 
organisation at the heart of its required outcomes and will ensure that the design, 
procurement and build maximises the opportunity to deliver a positive impact.  This will 
include both encouraging the use of modern, carbon reducing technologies within 
developments and also ensuring that buildings are future proofed by ensuring that design 
enables retrofitting of new technologies over the life time of buildings.

5.3 The Council will undertake robust business cases that fully consider the environmental 
impact of all new developments and major refurbishment projects, which will include 
leisure centres, new housing development (both council houses and other houses), works 
to the Council’s own buildings and any other development or regeneration that the Council 
is involved in.

5.4 As part of this, consideration will be given to further investment in existing buildings and 
offices to make them more environmentally smart, efficient and sustainable (eg automatic 
LED lighting, insulation, fuel sources, water use). 

5.5 Housing/HRA table of planned improvements: 

Existing 
Housing

 The loft insulation programme has been ongoing for the last 3 
years and will be completed in 2019/20

 As needed old boilers have been replaced by more energy 
efficient gas boilers (programme has been running for the last 5 
years).

 From 2025- shift to Electric Boilers
 Replace solid fuel heating with Electric heating powered by Solar 

Panels. By 2030.
 Retrofit Solar Panels to all roofs where applicable.
 Renew old UPVC windows.

New 
Housing:
HRA/
Gravitas

 New build, they are built to lifetime homes standards.
 All new builds to at least sustainable code 3 from 2020
 Include ground Source Heating from 2020 where possible.
 Include air source heating from 2020 where possible.
 Include Solar Panels where possible
 Install electric car charging point to all properties with side 

parking from 2021.

42



5.6 Assessments will be undertaken on costs of housing improvements works.  In regard to 
new build housing, an increase in construction costs will be assumed at 15-20% above 
current per unit costs which will be factored in to capital budgets for 2021/22 onwards.

5.7 Commercial & Operations – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.8 The main carbon usage within Street Scene is in fuel for the fleet, particularly the waste 

collection vehicles.  There are emerging technical innovations which significantly reduce 
carbon emissions but these are currently expensive and have service limitations.

5.9 With the introduction of food waste collections and the subsequent increase in the number 
of anaerobic digester (AD) plants, it is possible that the biogas produced from these plants 
can be used in the future to fuel the waste collection, and other, vehicles.  This has the 
potential to be a locally sourced, carbon friendly and 100% renewable energy source.  The 
supply chain of the fuel would also be neutral as the vehicles would refuel when they went 
to the AD plant to tip food waste.  This would involve the purchase of new vehicles that 
could run on the biogas. 

5.10 Corporate Operations covers a wide range of functions which are high users of energy.  
This includes buildings such as the four leisure centres in the District and also Grantham’s 
crematorium.  Both services are currently managed by external providers.

5.11 Leisure centres are high users of both water and electricity/oil and whilst there are energy 
saving measures on the sites (Combined Heat and Power Pumps and photovoltaic/solar 
panels) there is far more to be done to reduce the carbon footprint.  The current leisure 
management contract expires in January 2021 and this brings the opportunity for 
negotiating with new providers to agree monitoring arrangements for water and energy 
use and set reduction targets, as well as stipulating requirements for recycling and 
sustainable building management.  In addition, the Council’s current commitment to 
building/refurbishment of the leisure centres will bring the opportunity for schemes to 
incorporate energy efficiency into the design.

5.12 Other areas were progress is already being made to reduce the carbon footprint is the 
programme to deploy energy efficient LED lanterns across the Council’s street lights, the 
introduction of two SKDC electric pool cars and the work to install electric vehicle charging 
points in Council car parks in each of the four towns.

5.13 Transformation & Change – Service Impact & Key Implications
5.14 The focus of the transformation and change initiatives will need to consider the 

requirements to become carbon neutral.  This covers the way services are designed to 
enable more environmentally friendly customer access channels and delivery mechanisms 
as well as the way the organisation utilises and deploys corporate resources.

5.15 There will need to be a continued drive towards flexibility in working practices, reducing 
the need for officers and customers to come into Council buildings, as well as reducing the 
requirement to travel to external meetings.

 Include passive housing into design for new housing from 2030.
 Fabric First approach from 2025.
 Maximise MMC opportunities for new construction from 2020.

43



5.16 Further investment in future technologies will be needed, along with training and 
development to enable the organisation to adopt the skills and operate in a more carbon 
friendly manner.

5.17 The design of services will need to continue to consider carbon impacts.  Opportunities to 
reduce the use of materials (e.g. paper, fuel etc) will need to be considered as well as 
where they are sourced from to reduce our overall carbon impact.  There will be some 
challenges faced by the authority if national legislation does not permit services to be 
remodelled to a degree where they are carbon neutral.

5.18 Procurement & Supply Chain – Impact & Key Implications
5.19 The Council will seek to influence the providers of external services and the Council’s 

wider supply chain of goods and services to, as far as practicable, reduce their carbon 
footprint.  Achieving net-zero carbon through the wider provider and supply chain helps to 
multiply the beneficial effect of the Council’s commitment and efforts. 

5.20 Local Authorities are legally bound by the Public Contract Regulations 2015 for 
procurement over specified thresholds.  This requirement is incorporated into the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules.  Procurement activity below the stated thresholds would be 
reviewed in the context of the ambition outlined in the report.

5.21 Going forward, any specifications above the stated thresholds will need to factor in carbon 
neutrality where relevant to ensure any suppliers incorporate this into their response.  The 
Council must have regard to its Value for Money statutory responsibilities when 
undertaking its procurement activities so full market engagement would still need to be 
undertaken to ensure this responsibility is met.  

6 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview & Scrutiny
6.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee have taken an early lead on climate 

change within the Council and agreed on the 18 June 2019 to undertake some targeted 
work on climate change with the expected focus on:

1. Carbon reduction 
2. Carbon off-setting 
3. Use of technology 

6.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to hold a series of informal 
workshops to enable information gathering; Members to begin to explore how the Council 
might approach climate change in terms of taking action and implementing policies; and 
Members to consider priorities and proposed next steps.  The first of these workshops was 
held on the 30 July 2019.

6.3 On the 17 September 2019 the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considered and endorsed the proposal to allocate up to £50,000 to enable external advice 
and the recruitment of a Climate Change Officer straight away to drive forward the 
Council’s ambition to be net-zero carbon.

6.4 Should the recommendation in this report to set up a task and finish group be approved 
they would liaise with and report back to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

44



7 Available Options Considered
7.1 The Council could decide to take no action but it is proposed that a tipping point has been 

reached where inaction is no longer tenable.  Alternatively, the organisation could take 
more aggressive action – in line with some councils – and declare that the Authority will be 
net-zero carbon by 2030, however, without significantly more work it is not possible to 
accurately gauge the practicalities, implications and costs of this commitment.

8 Preferred Option
8.1 It is proposed that South Kesteven District Council declares a ‘climate emergency’ and 

confirm the Political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by 2030 and to 
become net-zero carbon by 2050 (encompasses SKDC’s wholly owned companies).  This 
report also sets out the proposed next steps to develop the Council’s approach to climate 
change and to assess the financial and other implications.

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
9.1 The recommendations seek to strike the right balance to recognise the climate emergency 

and setting out practical steps to develop the Council’s approach to climate change and to 
ensure Members understand the implications.

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
10.1 Subject to approval, a ‘Climate Change Action’ task and finish group will be established.  

The group will be tasked to identify how the Council’s activities can work towards being 
net-zero carbon, consider appropriate climate change adaptations and establish any 
immediate budgetary implications.  The task and finish group will liaise with the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and report on initial findings to the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee in Spring 2020. 

10.2 This will provide a strong platform for the Council’s wider community leadership role to 
promote carbon reduction by residents, businesses, other public sector organisations and 
visitors/commuters.

11 Financial Implications
11.1 The report is recommending an allocation of up to £50,000 to be made available to begin 

the necessary activities.  As this is not currently budgeted, a one-off allocation from the 
Local Priorities Reserve will need to be made.  This will be subject to Council approval.  
As budget preparatory work for 2020/21 and the two years thereafter is underway, the 
ambition set out in this report will need to be incorporated into budgetary plans from both a 
capital and revenue perspective, where relevant.  

Financial Implications reviewed by:Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

12 Legal and Governance Implications 

45



12.1 There are no specific legal or governance implications at this stage.  However, this may 
change if, as a consequence of declaring a climate emergency, the Council seeks to 
implement policies or other such documents.  There could be matters arising which must 
be assessed further and in more detail at that time.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
13.1 There are no specific equality or safeguarding implications at this stage but this will be 

kept under review and, as the programme develops, analysis of impact will be carried out 
and used to inform individual projects as relevant.

14 Risk and Mitigation
14.1 There are significant risks over the next couple of decades if SKDC does not take 

appropriate action to reduce and mitigate the impact of climate change.  In addition, it is 
conceivable that central Government may impose carbon tariffs or carbon reduction 
targets on local authorities as part of the United Kingdom’s carbon commitments; early 
action will position the Council well if this were to happen.

14.2 On the contrary, there are also risks of committing to reaching net-zero carbon within a 
tighter timeframe before the nature or the implications of the required action is understood 
or getting too out of kilter with central Government’s plans.

15 Community Safety Implications 
15.1 There are no specific community safety implications at this stage but this will be kept 

under review and used to inform the programme of work as it develops.

16 Appendices
16.1 Appendix One: ‘Half a Degree of Warming Makes A Big Difference: Explaining IPCC’s 

1.5°C Special Report’ World Resources Institute’s Infographic.

17 Acknowledgements
17.1 This report builds on and borrows from a number of international, national and local 

council reports and materials.

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  26 September 2019

46



Appendix One: ‘Half a Degree of Warming Makes A Big Difference: Explaining IPCC’s 1.5°C 
Special Report’ World Resources Institute’s Infographic

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Budget Framework Amendment 2019/20
This report seeks approval by Council to amend the budget framework in order to incorporate the 
funding for the Witham Slea Blue/Green corridor project. 

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

01476 406210

r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 13 September 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 16 September 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 16 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

 Council is asked to approve the change to the General Fund revenue programme of 
£1,056,615 in respect of the Witham Slea Blue/Green corridor project. The financing of 
this project wholly consists of external funding as detailed at paragraph 1.

49

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 South Kesteven District Council received a grant in-principle of £743,829 from the

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) in April 2019 to deliver 14 projects along
the Witham and Slea focusing on Environment and Resource Efficiency.

1.2 The programme is being matched by supporting partners: North Kesteven District Council, 
the Environment Agency and the National Trust at £312,786. This funding together with the 
ERDF grant is £1,056,615.  The match funding committed is as follows:

 North Kesteven District Council (NKDC): £156,300

 Environment Agency (EA): £140,000

 National Trust (NT): £16,486

1.3 To accept the funding from ERDF, a contract is required to be entered into with the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) for the maximum amount of 
£743,829. MHCLG administers the grant defrayal and delivery for the European Union (EU) 
funded programme.

1.4 South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) will be acting as the lead partner in this ringfenced 
programme which will include the delivery of all works. The total operating budget of this 
programme being: £1,236,615. SKDC will act as the financial body for the project, managing 
all income and expenditure and has already approved expenditure of £180,000 for the 
project at the Budget meeting on 1st March 2019.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1  Cabinet approved the Funding Agreement at their meeting on 10th September 2019 and 

recommended the amendment to the budget framework accordingly

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The project will commence upon completion of the Funding Agreement and the 

amendment to the budget framework

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 These are set out in the report.  The Council has directly committed a total of £180,000 

over three financial years to support the delivery of this project and this was approved by 
Council on 1st March 2019.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 There are no specific legal issues arising from this report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 N/a

7 Risk and Mitigation

50



7.1 The projects have been planned in partnership with the Environment Agency and to 
mitigate any negative environmental impact a full ecological and species survey carried 
out along each stretch of the river route where projects are planned. The team and 
partnership have full confidence that this will support the river system in the urban 
conurbations and also in the downstream reaches of the river.

7.2 An ecological clerk will be contracted into the programme to advise and mitigate for any 
protected species which are evident within the river system. Project plans have also taken 
into account the ecological constraints of the seasons, nesting birds, hibernation and 
active wildlife sites.

7.3 Each of the 14 set projects have a 10% contingency built in should any matters arise 
during works and the financial commitment from partners have included the cost for 
contingency.

7.4 Individual project packs have been developed for each project outlining the works and 
consideration for access, materials and constraints on-site. These have been created by 
all involved in the partnership including supporting partners: SKDC, EA, NKDC, 
Lincolnshire Rivers Trust and Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust. 

7.5 The funding from EU programmes including ERDF are guaranteed and underwritten by 
HM Treasury until the end of 2020 and over the project lifetime. This was announced in 
July 2018 and safeguards against both scenarios of EU exit. In accepting the funding, any 
future press opportunities must follow EU branding guidelines to include the appropriate 
EU Logo, SKDC will need to adhere to document retention guidelines, provide financial 
transparency for the programme to MHCLG and complete a suitable completion report. 
These matters will be completed within the project programme. 

7.6 A risk assessment has been completed for the programme which will be managed by the 
project delivery team and the in-project board during the course of the programme. A 
regular quarterly report will be produced as a requirement for the board and ERDF grant 
claims on the ongoing risks.

8 Background Papers
8.1 N/a

9 Appendices
9.1 N/a

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

12 August 2019

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  26 September 2019

51



This page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Linda Wootten
Chairman of the Constitution 
Committee

        

Recommendation of the Constitution Committee - 
Companies Committee
This report asks the Council to consider and approve the terms of reference for the Companies 
Committee, confirms the political balance of the Committee and asks Council to appoint its 
members, the chairman and the vice-chairman.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 17 September 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 18 September 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Linda Wootten, Chairman of the 
Constitution Committee 18 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

It is recommended that the Council:
1. Approves the terms of reference for the Companies Committee as set out at 

Appendix 1 to this report and agrees their inclusion at Article 12 of the Council’s 
Constitution

2. Agrees to amending Article 2.3 b) (v) of the Council’s Constitution to state that 
training for members of the Companies Committee, members of the Cabinet and 
Directors of the companies should be mandatory

53

Agenda Item 13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


3. Agrees the political balance calculation for the Companies Committee and 
appoints members in accordance with that

4. Appoints a Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Companies Committee

54



1 The Background to the Report
1.1 At its meeting on 10 June 2019, the Constitution Committee received a detailed report on 

the establishment of the Companies Committee. Following that meeting, at the request of 
the Chairman, the terms of reference of the Committee have been revisited following wider 
discussion with members and officers.

1.2 The Council is the sole owner of three companies and is in the process of creating a 50/50 
owned joint venture Limited Liability Partnership with IAG Holdings to form DeliverSK. 

1.3 Council owned companies must, by law, operate at arm’s length from the Council and 
have their own decision-making arrangements. The council, does not, therefore, have 
direct control of the decisions taken by its companies. In this context, the Council is asked 
to consider and agree the enhanced governance arrangements set out in this report, so 
that it can demonstrate that it is managing its different responsibilities and legal obligations 
in respect of the companies or other legal entities it owns wholly or in part.

1.4 The proposed arrangements are designed to ensure that there is a strategic level 
oversight of the portfolio of companies and of individual companies or other entities in that 
portfolio, to ensure that their activity is coordinated to avoid duplication and that as a group 
the businesses conduct themselves in accordance with the Council’s strategy and ethos.

1.5 The proposed arrangements are also designed to enhance corporate governance and 
provide reassurance that:

 The Council is seen to be acting in an open and transparent manner in respect of its 
trading activities

 The objectives of the companies are being delivered

 Performance and risk are being managed

 The extent of any delegation of responsibilities is clear

 There is transparency around important decisions

 A proper balance is achieved between transparency and commercial confidentiality

2 Current arrangements
2.1 The use of corporate vehicles, such as companies and partnerships is prevalent in the 

public sector, and there are many benefits to having them, not least the freedom to 
undertake commercial activity and to deliver the Council’s objectives in a delivery-
focussed environment.

2.2 The Council has established several companies, each with its own rationale and delivery 
ambitions. The current companies and proposed future entities are set out in the table 
below:

Table 1
Name Type of Entity Governance Key Aims

Gravitas Housing Wholly owned 
company limited by 
shares

Memorandum and 
Articles of 
Association

To directly deliver 
and/or enable 
Housing Growth for 
small and medium 
developments 

55



Name Type of Entity Governance Key Aims
across a range of 
tenures

EnvironmentSK Ltd Wholly owned 
company limited by 
shares

Memorandum and 
Articles of 
Association

To deliver grounds 
maintenance 
services to Council 
and wider clients

EnvironmentSK 
(Commercial 
Services) Ltd

Wholly owned 
company limited by 
shares

Memorandum and 
Articles of 
Association

To deliver grounds 
maintenance 
services to wider 
commercial clients

InvestSK Wholly owned 
company limited by 
guarantee

Memorandum and 
Articles of 
Association

To lead South 
Kesteven’s 
economic 
development 
agenda: supporting 
local businesses to 
grow; delivering 
new inward 
investment; 
boosting the arts, 
heritage town centre 
and visitor economy 
offers; and 
enhancing the skills 
of the district’s 
future workforce

DeliverSK 50/50 Joint Venture 
LLP

Members’ 
Agreement

To deliver growth 
and regeneration by 
sharing risk and 
reward equally with 
the JV partner

2.3 In its capacity as owner/shareholder/joint venture partner, the Council’s role is not to 
manage the business of the companies. That is a legal function of the companies’ Boards 
of Directors. The companies’ directors, when acting as such, whether they are also 
members or officers, owe a primary legal obligation to the company, not the Council.

2.4 In its capacity as client, the Council’s role is to define its service specification against 
which the company will deliver and account for the service it provides.

2.5 The roles and responsibilities expected of officers and members can be complicated, can 
overlap and conflict. The proposed governance arrangements will assist in the separation 
of roles and responsibilities and will lead to more transparent processes for decision-
making, both at Board level and Council level.

3 Proposed arrangements
3.1 It is proposed that the Companies Committee has an oversight function of the full ‘family’ 

of commercial companies at a strategic level, not the day-to-day decisions at an 

56



operational level (which is for each Company Board). Its remit will be to ensure the 
Council:

 Builds successful companies or other appropriate legal vehicles

 Has oversight, assurance and governance over the portfolio of companies and other 
vehicles

 Approves company business plans, to ensure that resources are deployed to achieving 
outcomes and objectives the Council wishes to see being delivered

 Has a robust performance framework through which the companies report on their 
strategic performance against their Business Plan

3.2 Given the committee’s scrutiny and oversight functions, it is proposed that no member of 
Cabinet or company Board member will sit on the Companies Committee. This would also 
protect against the possibility of a conflict of interest. 

4 Political balance
4.1 Should the Council agree to a committee size of 7, the political balance would mirror that 

of the Governance and Audit Committee, Constitution Committee and Employment 
Committee.

Table 2

Companies Committee  

Total seats 7

Group Proportional 
entitlement

Entitlement 
rounded

Conservative 4.75 5
Independent 1.625 2
Labour 0.375 0
Unaligned N/A  
  7

4.2 The Council will need to appoint members to the Committee in line with the rules of 
political proportionality, together with a chairman and a vice-chairman for the committee. 

5 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
5.1 A report was first considered by the Constitution committee at its meeting on 10 June 

2019 and subsequently at its meeting on 9 September 2019. At its meeting on 9 
September 2019, the Constitution Committee made the following recommendations:

5.1.1 That the Constitution Committee approves the revised terms of reference for the 
Companies Committee as set out…subject to an amendment regarding the 
Chairman/Vice-Chairman

5.1.2 That the Constitution committee approves a training day for members of the Companies 
Committee as mandatory to be attended by all Cabinet members and Directors as well as 

57



any other interested member of the council, including all members of the Constitution 
Committee

5.1.3 That there are at least four scheduled meetings of the Companies Committee per year

5.1.4 That training for the Companies Committee is mandatory for all members of the 
Committee, all Cabinet members and Directors of the companies, including substitutes

6 Available Options Considered
6.1 An oversight framework is highly desirable as the work of the Council’s companies and 

other arm’s length legal partnerships and ventures is not coherently governed by existing 
mechanisms. Whilst not a legal requirement, governance and oversight are important in 
the context of the changes in the ways the Council delivers its services and meets its 
financial pressures.

6.2 The Council could opt to do nothing as an oversight function is not legally necessary, 
however this could present real risks in the fast-moving, complex decision-making 
environment that commercial processes demand. Both MHCLG and CIPFA advise 
councils to have greater scrutiny and oversight of commercial activity.

6.3 The Council has already agreed to the principle of putting arrangements in place for a new 
Companies Committee with responsibility for all of the Council’s commercial activities. 

7 Preferred Option
7.1 The recommended preferred option is to establish an oversight framework for the 

Council’s commercial activities, through the proposed Companies Committee. The terms 
of reference as recommended by the Constitution Committee are attached as Appendix 1 
to this report. 

8 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
8.1 A training day is currently being arranged, which it is proposed becomes mandatory for 

members of the Companies Committee. The training will be delivered by Browne 
Jacobson Solicitors and the Monitoring Officer, at no cost to the Council. All members will 
be invited to attend. Officers who sit as company directors will also be invited to attend the 
training. The training will take place before the first meeting of the Companies Committee.

9 Financial Implications 
9.1 The financial implications of the varying company delivery models are considered and 

determined by Council as part of the annual budget-setting process. This includes any 
funding considerations from both a revenue and capital perspective.  The formation of the 
Companies Committee is an important component of ensuring full public scrutiny and 
transparency of the financial arrangements in respect of each company referenced in the 
report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

10 Legal and Governance Implications 
10.1 The creation of the Companies Committee will ensure effective governance surrounding 

the business ventures of the Council. To affect the decision made by the Council on 1 
March 2019, the committee must be established and incorporated within the Constitution 
of the Council. The Constitution Committee must consider the changes that need to be 
made to the Constitution and make recommendations to Council to this end. 

58



Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
11.1 These proposals do not present any safeguarding implications. In terms of equalities, the 

proposals have a positive impact in that the Companies Committee could choose to 
conduct a thematic review of the impact of commercial ventures on people with protected 
characteristics. It is envisaged that the impacts will be positive.

12 Risk and Mitigation
12.1 The creation of an oversight function mitigates risk and ensures openness and 

transparency.

13 Community Safety Implications 
13.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1: Proposed terms of reference of Companies Committee

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Constitution 
Committee

9 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  26 September 2019

59



This page is intentionally left blank



Companies Committee – Terms of Reference

The Companies Committee

The Council will establish and maintain a Companies Committee to act in 
accordance with these terms of reference in relation to any stand-alone company or 
joint venture partnership or other such collaborative arrangement, whether wholly or 
jointly owned by the Council. 

The Committee’s primary purpose will be to provide oversight of company or other 
venture business planning processes to ensure alignment with the Council’s 
overarching strategy whilst recognising the operational independence of the 
company/venture.

The Committee will also provide the scrutiny function for investments, outcomes 
against funding, property disposals and other resourcing decisions made in relation 
to companies.

Membership

The Committee will be composed of 7 Members and will comply with the Political 
Balance Rules in Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

Membership will be drawn from members who do not also sit as Company Directors 
or on the Cabinet.

Meetings of the Committee

i. Meetings will take place at least four times per annum.
ii. Additional meetings will be arranged as required to consider exceptional 

items.
iii. Appropriate representatives of the companies / venture will be included as 

required by the content of the agenda.

Chairman and Vice-Chairman

i. At the Annual Meeting the Council shall appoint the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Companies Committee.

ii. If the Chairman or Vice-Chairman resigns by giving written notice of 
resignation to the Chief Executive, the appointment of a new Chairman will be 
made by Council at its next available meeting. 

iii. The Chairman, if present, shall preside.

iv. If the Chairman is absent, the Vice-Chairman shall preside. If the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman are absent, the Committee shall elect one of the members 
present as Chairman of that meeting.

61

Appendix 1



Powers of Chairman and Vice-Chairman

i. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of a Committee (acting together as a Sub-
committee) are authorised to give decisions on any matter of 

a) a routine or straight-forward nature
b) Which the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, after consultation with the 

Chief Executive or relevant Strategic Director most directly 
concerned, are satisfied should be dealt with as a matter of urgency. 

Any decision taken under paragraph (i) above shall be reported by the officer 
concerned to the next meeting of the Committee.

ii. No decision shall be taken under paragraph (i) which would constitute a 
departure from a settled strategy, policy or programme of the Council, nor 
outside the powers of the Committee.

Terms of Reference

Terms of Reference of the Companies’ Committee are to:

1. Consider proposals on the creation of any new company or joint venture, and 
make recommendations to Cabinet as to the need, desirability and business 
objectives of the new entity prior to its creation;

2. Approve and monitor Strategic Business Plans of any new company/joint 
venture together with any substantive changes to those plans;

3. Have oversight on an annual basis of the Strategic Business Plans of existing 
companies/joint ventures and to consider any substantive changes to those 
plans;

4. Receive reports and evaluate strategic performance, including financial 
performance, against Strategic Business Plans

5. Make recommendations to the Cabinet on:
- Appropriate skills and expertise at Board level;
- The strategic objectives;
- The strategic direction

6. Approve the appointment of company directors, subject to the Articles of 
Association of the company concerned

62



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid

Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairmen 2018/19

        

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 
2018/19
This report covers the 2018/19 municipal year. It provides a summary of the work undertaken by 
all the Overview and Scrutiny Committees during 2018/19. 

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

 01476 406152

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer 10 September 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 17 September 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid 17 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Council notes the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2018/19. 

63

Agenda Item 14

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under Article 7.1(iii) of the Council’s Constitution, the Chairmen of all Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees are required to determine the content of an annual report relating to 
each of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The report is to be co-ordinated and 
signed off by the appointed Chairman of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairmen for 2018/19 will present the 
annual report to Full Council for its consideration.

1.2 During 2018/19 the Council appointed a cross-party working group to consider the 
Council’s governance arrangements. Amongst the working group’s recommendations, 
which were presented to Council on 1 March 2019, were proposed changes to overview 
and scrutiny committees, reducing the number from five to four, combining the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committees and replacing the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. These changes came into effect following the 
quadrennial elections in May 2019.

1.3 This annual report covers those committees that were in place during 2018/19. It contains 
a summary of the topics that each overview and scrutiny committee has considered at 
their meetings during the 2018/19 municipal year including the combined Budget Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting. The first report on the current overview and scrutiny 
committees will be presented to Council at the end of the 2019/20 municipal year.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 The Council’s Constitution prescribes that an annual Overview and Scrutiny report is 

produced. No other options were considered.

3 Financial Implications 
3.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 It is a requirement under Article 7.1(iii) of the Constitution that an annual Scrutiny report is 

submitted to Council.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

5 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
5.1 The report provides a summary of work undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees during the period 2018/19. As such, there are no equality and safeguarding 
implications to consider.  

6 Risk and Mitigation
6.1 There are no specific high risks arising from this report. 

7 Community Safety Implications 
7.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

8 Background Papers
8.1 Council’s Constitution

64



http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Jul-
2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1

9 Appendices
9.1 Appendix 1: Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Council 27 September 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

65

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Jul-2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3745/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Jul-2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10&Info=1


This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report
2018-2019

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of: The Chairmen of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees

        

67

Appendix 1

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


2

Contents

1 Introduction 3
2 Role of Scrutiny 3
3 Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee 4
4 Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 4
4.1 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 4
4.2 Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 5
4.3 Community Cohesion 5
4.4 Housing Policies 5
4.5 Modern Slavery 6
4.6 Data Protection Policy 7
4.7 Community Safety 7
5 Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 7
5.1 Easton Walled Garden 7
5.2 Cultural Strategy 7
5.3 Market Towns 7
5.4 Visitor Economy 8
5.5 Gravity Fields Festival 9
5.6 Delivery plan for culture and arts activity 9
5.7 Heritage activity 9
5.8 Sports development 9
6 Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 10
6.1 Grounds maintenance and EnvironmentSK 10
6.2 Taxi licensing and the Equality Act 2010 11
6.3 Food inspections 11
6.4 Food waste trial 11
6.5 Trade waste 11
6.6 Street lighting 12
6.7 Recycling 13
6.8 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire 13
6.9 DEFRA resources and waste strategy 13
6.10 Textile collection 13
7 Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee 14
7.1 InvestSK 14
7.2 Local Plan 14
7.3 Quarterly performance reporting 14
7.4 Financial quarterly reporting and outturn 15
7.5 DeliverSK 16
7.6 Article 4 Direction, Stamford 17
7.7 Smoke alarms, rewiring and accessibility 17
7.8 Disabled Facilities Grants 17
7.9 Communications Strategy 18
7.10 Property Investment Policy and Capital Strategy 18
7.11 Statement of Community Involvement 18
8 Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee 19
8.1 Armed Forces Officer 19
8.2 Cultural events in rural areas 19
8.3 Rural engagement vehicle 20
8.4 Loneliness and social exclusion 20
8.5 Transformation and innovation 20
8.6 Rural broadband 21
8.7 Rural economy insights and InvestSK 21
8.8 Bourne CiCLE Festival 21

68



3

1. Introduction
1.1 During 2018/19 South Kesteven District had five overview and scrutiny committees, each 

comprising 7 non-Cabinet members.

1.2 The overview and scrutiny committees are responsible for discharging the functions 
conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the discharge of functions 
under Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009, which require councils to put arrangements in 
place to designate a committee as a crime and disorder scrutiny committee. 

1.3 Each overview and scrutiny committee is responsible for monitoring the Council’s 
performance, considering its decisions, questioning how those decisions are made and 
recommending improvements. The committees also undertake external scrutiny to 
examine wider issues that affect the district. The Constitution allows for any of the 
overview and scrutiny committees to carry out crime and disorder scrutiny.

2. Role of Scrutiny
2.1 There are four key functions of scrutiny:

2.1.1 To provide a “critical friend” challenge to the Cabinet as well as external authorities and 
agencies

 Challenge by scrutiny should be constructive, robust and purposeful

 Scrutiny should work effectively with the Cabinet and senior management

 Scrutiny should provide an effective mechanism for the Cabinet to demonstrate 
public accountability

2.1.2 To reflect the voice and concerns of the public and its communities

 Scrutiny should take a community leadership role by focusing on issues of public 
concern

 Scrutiny should have a constructive relationship with the press and media

 Scrutiny should create the conditions for plural views and concerns to be considered

2.1.3 Scrutiny members should take the lead and own the scrutiny process on behalf of the 
public

 Scrutiny should operate with political impartiality

 Scrutiny should have ownership of its work programme

 Scrutiny members should have a worthwhile and fulfilling role

2.1.4 Scrutiny should make an impact on the delivery of public services

 Scrutiny should have access to timely and accurate performance information

 The scrutiny work programme should be balanced, well co-ordinated and integrated 
into corporate processes

 Scrutiny work should be carried out with strategic objectives in mind

 Scrutiny should contribute to improving local public services

69



4

3. Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Chairman: Councillor Robert Reid

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Barry Dobson

3.1 The Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 10 January 2019 to consider the 
budget proposals for 2019/20. During the meeting, Members were given an overview of 
activity in the 2018/19 financial year to realign parts of the Council’s budgets and planned 
work in 2019/20 to consolidate the focus on building growth and investment in the district.

3.2 The Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered revenue and capital budgets 
associated with the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account. It also included fees 
and charges proposals and information on reserves and balances.

3.3 Other considerations included:

 The provisional financial settlement for 2019/20

 The ongoing fair funding review

 The four-year efficiency plan which allowed the Council to consider council tax 
increases of £5 per annum for the plan period

 Options for setting council tax

 Local and national risks to the Council’s budget position

3.4 As part of its recommendations, the Committee expressed its support for the proposals in 
the Cabinet Member for Finance’s report in respect of the General Fund (both Revenue 
and Capital) and the Housing Revenue Account (again, Revenue and Capital). The 
Committee supported the proposed £5 increase in Council Tax and requested that 
financial provision is included in the Budget proposals for 2019/20 for a Scrutiny Officer. 

4. Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Chairman: Councillor Ray Wootten

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Bob Russell

During the 2018/19 municipal year, the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee met on four occasions. A summary of the items considered by the 
committee is set out below.

4.1 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

4.1.1 The Committee looked at the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy on two 
occasions; 12 June 2018 and 9 October 2018. The policy demonstrated the Council’s 
commitment to tackling irresponsible and ‘rogue’ landlords, and its approach to ensuring 
housing standards are met across the sector.

4.1.2 In the first instance, the policy was considered by the Committee in draft format. The 
Committee made a recommendation to the Cabinet Member for Housing, which endorsed 
its suitability for public consultation. This recommendation was subject to the consultation 
period being extended to six weeks to start after the summer holidays. A non-key decision 

70



5

was taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing to agree a period of public consultation, 
taking account of this recommendation. 

4.1.3 After the consultation had been completed, the Committee received an update on the 
responses that had been received. The Committee recommended that the updated draft 
‘South Kesteven District Council Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy’ including the 
amendments shown in appendix 2 to report ENV704 be approved for adoption by Cabinet. 
The Cabinet approved the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy at its meeting on 1 
November 2018, delegating authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing to make any 
minor amendments to the policy that were required to support its continued effectiveness.

4.2 Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy

4.2.1 At its meeting on 31 July 2019, the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was given a presentation by representatives from Lincolnshire County Council 
on the Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Local authorities and their partner 
clinical commissioning groups were required to produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy that met the needs identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Its 
purpose was to set the strategic commissioning direction for the next five years in order to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the population and reduce inequalities.

4.2.2 The presentation highlighted the principles that had formed the foundation of the strategy, 
gave an overview of the consultation work that had been undertaken, set out the priorities 
that had been identified and stated the aims of the strategy.

4.2.3 Following the presentation, Members agreed to hold a workshop with representatives from 
Lincolnshire County Council to inform members about health and wellbeing needs and 
deprivation within their Wards to help influence where future resources might be focussed. 
The Committee also agreed that it would like to receive a 6-month progress update. This 
workshop took place on Friday 15 March 2019. 

4.3 Community Cohesion

4.3.1 On 31 July 2019, members were given an update on a bid that had been made to the 
Controlling Migration Fund by Boston Borough Council. While the fund had closed, it was 
expected to re-open once the evaluation of the first projects had been completed. 
Members were also informed about a new Integrated Communities Innovation Fund, 
which had been introduced following consultation on the Integrated Communities Strategy 
Green Paper. Members discussed project ideas and finding different ways for 
communities to mix. The committee’s recommendation was that the better funding pot to 
which the Council could apply was the Controlling Migration Fund.

4.4 Housing Policies

4.4.1 Committee Members considered a report on 31 July 2019, which related to three housing 
policies: the mutual exchange, assignment and succession policies. Whilst the Council 
had been providing mutual exchange, assignment and succession services following 
guidance and direction, there had been no policies and procedures in place. It was good 
practice to set out policies and procedures to clearly define how those functions would be 
implemented.

4.4.2 The Mutual Exchange Policy covered exchanges between a Council tenant and either 
another Council tenant or a tenant of a registered provider. The Assignment Policy 
covered instances where a tenant wished to assign a tenancy to someone else. The 

71



6

Succession Policy covered instances where a tenant has died and someone else 
succeeds that tenancy.

4.4.3 The Committee recommended the adoption of all three policies and that delegated 
authority should be granted to the Cabinet Member for Housing regarding decisions about 
any administration fee, the refund of any such fee and approving minor changes to any of 
the documents. The Committee also noted the suggestion that wording in the Mutual 
Exchange Policy should be amended to state that each application would be considered 
on a case by case basis and that an administration fee may be payable when applying for 
a mutual exchange.

4.4.4 Cabinet approved the policies at its meeting on 4 October 2018 and delegated 
responsibility for any further minor changes prior to publication to the Cabinet Member for 
Housing.

4.5 Modern Slavery

4.5.1 At the Council meeting on 27 September 2019, Members considered a notice of motion on 
modern slavery. As part of its decision, the Council asked the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review the Council’s existing commitments, including 
those set out in the Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2017, and to 
propose any further recommendations as appropriate. Following the Council’s decision, 
the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the matter 
at its meeting on 12 February 2019.

4.5.2 The Committee received a presentation from the Council’s Community Engagement and 
Policy Development Officer and Detective Chief Superintendent Davison from Lincolnshire 
Police on modern slavery and a recent operation that had taken place within Lincolnshire.

4.5.3 The Council was required to publish a Modern Slavery Transparency Statement that set 
out how it would ensure that there was no modern slavery within its supply chains. The 
Committee was asked whether it wished to add anything further to the statement. 
Members agreed that the actions contained in the draft 2019/20 Modern Slavery 
Transparency Statement were appropriate to the Council’s requirements. Members 
recommended that the following actions should also be included:

 The Council will work across its service areas to identify any potential risk of slavery 
and human trafficking and develop appropriate steps to manage the risk

 The Council’s contract and procurement procedures will be reviewed to state that all 
appropriate action will be taken to ensure any risk of slavery or human trafficking will 
be mitigated within the Council’s business and within its supply chains

 Actively promote training opportunities relating to trafficking, exploitation and modern 
slavery to all community-facing staff

 Actively promote the training opportunities available to those employed in procuring 
goods and services on behalf of the Council

 Develop and deliver an awareness-raising campaign relating to modern slavery

 To develop an action plan, including timescales for the implementation of actions

 To report to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee twice each year on the 
actions contained in the Modern Slavery Transparency Statement

72



7

4.5.4 Members of the Committee felt that training for Councillors following the elections in May 
2019 should include reference to modern slavery. 

4.6 Data Protection Policy

4.6.1 Members considered the Council’s Data Protection Policy following the Data Protection 
Act 2018, which came into effect on 23 May 2018. The report outlined the requirements of 
the Act and the draft Data Protection Policy which had been updated to comply with the 
new legislative requirements. The Committee recommended the adoption of the draft 
Strategy to the Cabinet, which approved the policy at its meeting on 6 September 2018.

4.7 Community Safety

4.7.1 Detective Chief Superintendent Davison from Lincolnshire Police attended the 
Committee’s meeting on 12 February 2019 to deliver a presentation on the Safer 
Lincolnshire Partnership. This item formed part of the Council’s duty to carry out scrutiny 
of crime and disorder as set out in the Police and Justice Act 2006.

4.7.2 The presentation set out the aims of the partnership, its structure, membership and its 
statutory functions. Key themes had been identified through data analysis; each theme 
would have its own delivery plan designed to tackle the issue.

4.7.3 Members were also given an overview of ‘county lines activity’, which was a term used to 
describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs out of 
bigger cities into smaller towns using dedicated mobile phone lines or other forms of ‘deal 
line’.

5. Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Chairman: Councillor Linda Wootten

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Bob Adams

During the 2018/19 municipal year, the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee met on five occasions. A summary of the items considered by the 
committee is set out below.

5.1 Easton Walled Garden

5.1.1 The Committee received a presentation on Easton Walled Gardens and work that was 
being undertaken to revive parts of the Easton Estate. In debating the issue, Members 
discussed ways to broaden the appeal of the Estate and increase the spending per head.

5.2 Cultural Strategy

5.2.1 The Committee began work on the Cultural Strategy during the 2017/18 municipal year. Its 
meeting on 10 July 2018 provided members with a progress update. Four main strands 
had been identified: heritage, the arts, sport and sciences; sub-strategies would be 
developed for each of the connected areas. A series of public engagement sessions had 
been planned across the district through which local communities were asked to identify 
what they enjoyed about the existing cultural offer and what they would like to see. 
Members discussed how the strategy could recognise the differences between all of the 
towns across the district whilst providing a unified approach. Members also stressed the 
importance of businesses in supporting the visitor economy, referring particularly to 
providers of accommodation. Committee members confirmed that they were happy with 
the options for the delivery of the programme for public engagement and would be happy 
to be involved in the process.

73



8

5.2.2 By the time the Committee met on 13 September 2019, several meetings had taken place 
with partner organisations and key individuals from the Council and InvestSK. The 
outcome of the discussions had been the deferral of public consultation on the strategy 
until early 2019, which was endorsed by the Committee.

5.2.3 Consultation on the Cultural Strategy was undertaken through the ‘Big Conversation’. On 
24 January 2019, members heard about the launch of the programme and planned public 
engagement activity across the district. A copy of a questionnaire that would form the 
basis of public engagement had been provided to Members. The outcomes identified 
through the public engagement process would inform the priorities for the Cultural 
Strategy. Members noted the intention to include the questionnaire on the Council’s 
website and within SK Today. A member of the Committee who had skills and experience 
in consultation work agreed to help with enhancing and formatting the questionnaire. 
Members also discussed opportunities to consult with groups that were hard-to-reach.

5.2.4 Members were provided with an update on the Cultural Conversation engagement 
programme on 14 March 2019. The deadline for completing the survey was 31 May 2019. 
Feedback would be shared in stakeholder meetings and with Members.

5.3 Market towns

5.3.1 At its meeting on 10 July 2018 the Committee was given a report on work that was being 
done in relation to markets. Members received an overview of the relaunch of Grantham 
market, engagement activity with young people and different ways to raise the profile of 
markets.

5.4 Visitor economy

5.4.1 As part of a presentation on progress against the visitor economy agenda, Members 
learned that the majority of visitor economy activity within the district was focused around 
Stamford. The presentation also gave an overview of the type of people who visited the 
district. It highlighted different visitor attractions that brought people into the district and a 
visitor guide that was in production.

5.4.2 The Committee noted the success of RAF100 commemoration events, with some 
additional dates being added. Members were interested in raising awareness of South 
Kesteven outside the district and noted that consideration was being given to themed trails 
from London to Berwick.

5.4.3 Members also raised the matter of there being no market in the Deepings area. It was 
noted that a consultation had been undertaken on the subject and had come back with 
positive results. The introduction of a market in the Deepings then became a county 
matter, as there was work it was required to carry out as the local highway authority.

5.4.4 The Committee received a further update on visitor economy activity at its meeting on 15 
November 2019, which included details of the deployment of visitor economy trailer, the 
new visitor economy website and the visitor guide that were due to be published in 
December 2018. Members were also updated on projects that had taken place or were in 
the planning stages, including RAF100 events and the Bourne CiCLE Festival.

5.4.5 The Committee received its final update on visitor economy on 24 January 2019, when it 
was presented with a report outlining the work the visitor economy team was proposing for 
the forthcoming year. Members discussed advertising and signage, the 2019/20 visitor 
guide, a walking festival that had taken place within the district, visitor trails and key 
performance indicators. 

74



9

5.5 Gravity Fields Festival

5.5.1 On 13 September 2018, the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee watched a promotional video for the 2018 Gravity Fields Festival, which 
contained details of the type of events that would be taking place. Members were given an 
overview of the planned festival highlights.

5.5.2 The Committee also received a presentation about the role of the Corporate Operations 
Team in delivering large festivals. The presentation included statistical information on 
festival logistics, including the number of volunteer hours, the number of schools that had 
engaged with the festival and the economic benefits of previous festivals.

5.5.3 Members considered how the festival was funded and how it could spread across the 
whole district.

5.6 Delivery plan for culture and arts activity

5.6.1 A presentation was made to the Committee at its meeting on 15 November 2018 which set 
out the proposed delivery plan for culture and arts activity for the remainder of 2018/19 
and proposals for 2019/20. The main areas of focus in relation to culture and arts activity 
were public engagement to inform the content of the cultural strategy, a fund to help 
organisations to deliver activities and build capacity over a sustained period, and the 
introduction of a grant scheme. A series of Expo style events with schools were also 
included within the programme.

5.6.2 Members of the Committee noted the breadth of the cultural offer across the district, 
including sports and science festivals, music in quiet places, youth theatre opportunities 
and outdoor offers.

5.7 Heritage activity

5.7.1 At its meeting on 15 November 2018, the Committee was given a presentation on the 
delivery of a programme that celebrated the history within the district. There were three 
key strands to the heritage programme: celebrating the district’s heritage, enabling 
communities to utilise and access their heritage assets and delivering selected 
interventions to further the wider aims of InvestSK and South Kesteven District Council.

5.7.2 Members discussed how technology could be used to help local communities and the 
wider district make the most of the area’s heritage, the role of churches as community 
assets and master planning of the Grantham Heritage Quarter.

5.7.3 Members asked for information to be provided to them on website promotion and the 
number of visitor hits.

5.8 Sports development

5.8.1 Members considered a report on sports development activities at the Committee’s meeting 
on 24 January 2019. The report acknowledged the role played by sport within the Cultural 
strategy and provided the background to the creation of a Sports Development Officer 
function within InvestSK. This was a two-year fixed-term position.

5.8.2 Sports development work was put into the context of the national and local agenda on 
health, obesity and mental health issues. This work was intended to improve the 
consistency of the sport offer and provide overall strategic direction by liaising with existing 
groups across the district.

75



10

5.8.3 The newly appointed Sports Development Officer attended the meeting on 14 March 
2019, when the programme of priorities was also presented to the Committee. Meetings 
would be held around the district to engage with groups and individuals outside of the 
formal sports clubs and organisations. These meetings would complement other planned 
public engagement as part of the development of the Council’s leisure services. Members 
revisited the relationship between physical activity and good physical and mental health 
and wellbeing.

6. Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Chairman: Councillor Mike Exton

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

During the 2018/19 municipal year, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
met on five occasions. A summary of the items considered by the committee is set out 
below. 

6.1 Grounds Maintenance and EnvironmentSK

6.1.1 The agenda for the meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee that 
was held on 20 June 2018 included an item on the delivery of the grounds maintenance 
service. The existing contract for the service was due to expire at the end of February 
2019 and members were asked to consider a range of options, which included contracting 
out the service through competitive tender, in-sourcing the service utilising directly 
employed Council staff and Council-owned equipment, delivering the service through an 
SKDC local authority controlled company or delivering the service through an established 
local authority company. The different options were evaluated in terms of cost, flexibility 
and responsiveness, income generation and quality of service and performance. As part of 
the consideration of the different options, members also discussed the commercial 
possibilities, options for parish councils to access the service, how arrangements would 
affect employees and flexibility. Members recommended that the Council should pursue 
the delivery of the grounds maintenance service through an SKDC local authority 
controlled company. 

6.1.2 On 12 July 2018, the Cabinet considered the options for the delivery of the grounds 
maintenance service and the recommendations of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. The Cabinet decided that the service should be delivered through a company 
that was wholly owned by South Kesteven District Council and made a recommendation o 
Council that an amendment be made to the 2018/19 budget framework to enable the 
purchase of vehicles and equipment. This budget amendment was approved by the 
council at its meeting on 26 July 2018. At its meeting on 4 October 2018, the Cabinet 
considered a report on the formation of EnvironmentSK. It approved the incorporation of 
the EnvironmentSK companies (limited by shares) utilising model articles of association. 
Cabinet also approved the appointment of directors to the company.

6.1.3 The Committee received a progress update on 22 January 2019. Members were advised 
that all the key elements for the set-up of the company were in place in preparation for the 
end of February 2019. Orders had been placed for plant and equipment and 
accommodation secured; a majority of the employees of the previous provider of the 
grounds maintenance service were also expected to transfer to EnvironmentSK. Members 
noted that EnvironmentSK had been approached by some parish councils; costings and 
pricing models being drawn up and quotes provided. Members also took the opportunity to 

76



11

discuss the grounds maintenance services delivered by the previous contractor on behalf 
of Lincolnshire County Council.

6.1.4 When the Committee met on 12 March 2019, members were advised that the company 
had become operational on 1 March 2019. Members discussed the flexibility offered by 
the new arrangement, providing quotations for other organisations and identifying the 
ownership of grassed areas across the district.

6.2 Taxi Licensing and the Equality Act 2010

6.2.1 The Cabinet Member for Environment submitted a report to the meeting on 11 September 
2018 on proposed changes to the Taxi Licensing Policy in light of provisions within 
Sections 165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010. The provisions allowed a licensing 
authority to create a list of designated vehicles that were capable of carrying passengers 
in wheelchairs and required drivers of those vehicles to provide mobility assistance. The 
Committee recommended the implementation of the provisions and approval of the draft 
policy, which incorporated those changes. The Cabinet agreed those recommendations at 
its meeting on 4 October 2019.

6.3 Food inspections

6.3.1 On 11 September 2018 the Committee received a presentation on the Food Hygiene 
Rating Scheme, which was managed by the Environmental Health Commercial Team; the 
scheme was a partnership between the local authority and the Food Standards Agency. 
Members were shown examples of bad food hygiene, nothing that the team also carried 
out enforcement action against establishments where food hygiene was poor.

6.4 Food waste trial

6.4.1 During the year, the Committee received updates on the food waste trial that was 
underway. The Committee requested a presentation, which highlighted the challenges 
associated with the recycling process and that a visit to the materials recycling facility be 
arranged.

6.4.2 During the first update on 11 September 2018, members were advised that the trial was 
going well with high participation rates. Whilst there was not a significant quantity of data 
to share with the Committee, it was noted that the indications were that the trial had led to 
a reduction in contamination of recycling.

6.4.3 Members were further updated on 22 January 2019, when they were advised that 
participation in the trial was still above 80%, with approximately 6 tonnes of food waste 
being collected each week. Waste collected through this service was not being sent to the 
Energy from Waste centre but treated using a lower cost method. Two vehicles had been 
rented with pods for the collection of food waste, with an additional operative being 
employed. The Committee was advised that it would receive further update reports in the 
future.

6.5 Trade waste

6.5.1 The Council had introduced a trade waste collection service. The Committee received 
updates on the scheme’s progress at its meetings on 11 September 2018 and 20 
November 2018. During the first update, members of the Committee were advised that the 
target number of customers had been exceeded and the Cabinet Member for Environment 
stated that he was happy with the way that the service was going. On 20 November 2018 
the Committee agreed to remove trade waste as a standing item on its agenda and to add 
an annual report on the trade waste scheme to its work programme.

77



12

6.6 Street lighting

6.6.1 During the 2017/18 municipal year, the Committee had begun to look at street lighting. It 
made a series of recommendations, which were considered by the Cabinet at its meeting 
on 12 July 2018. The Cabinet referred the report back to the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for more detail in respect of financial deliverables, the end date for the 
refurbishment of all lighting stock and to consider issues around replacing lamps in 
Conservation Areas.

6.6.2 On 11 September 2018, members were advised of the feedback that had been given by 
Cabinet. Members expressed unanimous support of the proposed policy. The Cabinet 
Member for Environment in conveying Cabinet’s feedback, indicated that the Cabinet, too, 
was supportive of the draft policy.

6.6.3 On 20 November 2018 the Committee considered a report of the Chairman of the 
Committee. Members discussed the principles that sat behind the draft street lighting 
policy, costing calculations, provision within conservation areas and annual maintenance 
matters. The Committee made the following recommendations:

 That conservation style lighting columns in villages would only be provided by the 
Council upon request by the parish council, which would be required to fund the 
installation and all initial costs. Thereafter, the Council would take responsibility for 
ongoing maintenance and energy costs. Conservation lights would be compatible 
with LED replacement bulbs

 That Cabinet adopts the street light policy as previously submitted

 That an annual investment in LED lighting of a meaningful amount over and above 
the ringfenced maintenance and energy savings should also be reinvested over a 
period of five years. This represented a positive financial investment and a positive 
investment in helping against climate change

6.6.4 At the Committee’s meeting on 12 March 2019, members received a presentation on 
street lighting, which included costing information. The presentation set out the 
background to the issue, the current arrangements in respect of both General Fund and 
HRA lighting stock, the arrangements for repairs and replacement of street lights, funding 
options and financial modelling. The Committee made recommendations to Cabinet about 
its preferred option for energy efficient LED replacements.

6.6.5 On 11 June 2019, the Cabinet considered a further report on street lighting. The Cabinet 
agreed to: 

 The allocation of £100,000 from the Invest to Save Reserve to facilitate the process 
of converting the General Fund street lights to energy efficient LED as part of a 12-
year overall programme

 The replacement of Housing Revenue Account street lights to energy efficient LED 
fully funded from the HRA (at a cost of approximately £80,000)

 The procurement process and award of the contract/s for the works and 
maintenance (at a whole life contract/s cost of approximately £1,100,000), with 
authority delegated to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

 Approve the Street Lighting Policy appended to the report of the Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations

78



13

6.7 Recycling

6.7.1 On 20 November 2018, Members of the Committee received a presentation on the 
challenges and complexities of recycling. They reviewed the recycling rate that was being 
achieved in the district and compared it to the rate nationally. Members noted the 
materials that could be recycled and were advised that the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
was looking at a Lincolnshire-wide agreement to provide a more consistent list of 
recyclable materials across the county. Other issues considered by members included the 
contamination of recycling and plastics that could and could not be recycled. Members 
referred to a recycling wheel that indicated what could and could not be recycled; the work 
that was underway on the introduction of a county recycling mix meant that the item could 
not be progressed at that time. The Committee asked that a quote be obtained in relation 
to the possible rollout of a new recycling wheel; this would not be rolled out until there had 
been any agreement on a consistent list of materials that could be recycled across 
Lincolnshire.

6.8 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire

6.8.1 When the Committee met in April 2018, it received a presentation on the Lincolnshire Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy; a member workshop had also been held on the 
subject to inform a response to a consultation on the draft strategy. The presentation 
indicated that there would be several consultations on different strands associated with 
different aspects of the strategy.

6.8.2 At its meeting on 20 November 2018, the Committee received a further report following 
the amendment of the strategy to take account of public consultation and recommended 
adoption of the strategy to Cabinet. The Cabinet agreed to sign up to the Joint Municipal 
Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire at its meeting on 20 December 2018.

6.9 DEFRA resources and waste strategy

6.9.1 The Committee received a presentation following the publication of DEFRA’s Resources 
and Waste Management Strategy for England. This aligned closely with the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy. The Resources and Waste Strategy covered six 
main areas: strategic vision, waste collections, partnership working, waste facilities, 
innovation and measuring performance. 

6.9.2 When the Committee met on 12 March 2019, the following consultations were live: reform 
of the extended producer responsibility scheme, delivering greater consistency in 
recycling, deposit return schemes and a plastic packaging tax. The consultation deadline 
was 13 May 2019; given this timing the Committee recommended that officers respond to 
consultations with priority being given to the consistency in waste recycling and requested 
that the consultation responses be circulated to Committee members for information. 

6.10 Textile collection

6.10.1 Textile collection was added to the agenda for the meeting on 12 March 2019 by a 
member of the Committee. Members heard that contact had been made with the Salvation 
Army about provision of a textile bank in Market Deeping; they would deliver, manage and 
maintain the bank at no cost. It was suggested that the Council might put textile banks on 
its car parks. The Committee agreed to add the item to its work programme to allow 
research on possible sites.

7. Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

79



14

Chairman: Councillor Robert Reid

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Barry Dobson

During the 2018/19 municipal year, the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 
seven occasions. A summary of the items considered by the committee is set out below. 

7.1 InvestSK

7.1.1 At the Committee’s first meeting of 2018/19 on 29 May 2018, members heard a call-in 
request that related to a decision made by the Cabinet on 10 May 2018 regarding the 
creation of InvestSK. The decision was called-in by five members of the Council on the 
grounds that it was a Key Decision that had not been included in the Council’s Forward 
Plan and because they did not feel that it had been subject to sufficient consultation.

7.1.2 The Members who called in the decision were given the opportunity to set out their 
reasons, while the Leader responded to questions that were raised. Members of the 
Committee were also able to ask questions about the formation of the company.

7.1.3 The Committee concluded that no further action was required in respect of the decision 
that had been called-in but requested that the Articles of Association and the 
Memorandum of Understanding be presented to the Growth meeting scheduled for July 
2018. The Committee also recommended that the Articles of Association should reflect 
roles rather than naming individuals.

7.1.4 At the meeting on 25 July 2019, a report was presented to Members, appended to which 
were copies of the InvestSK Certificate of Incorporation, the Articles of Association, the 
Memorandum of Understanding and a performance framework. There was debate around 
the formation of an Advisory Committee and what its role might be were it to stay in place 
following the formation of the company. Members suggested that the minutes of the 
Advisory Committee should be presented to the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

7.1.5 The Committee recommended that the Articles of Association and the Memorandum of 
Understanding and its associated performance management framework be adopted and 
that the Articles of Association should be lodged with Companies House. The Committee 
also recommended that the Advisory Committee should be put in place together with the 
mechanisms referred to in the Memorandum of Understanding.

7.2 Local Plan

7.2.1 When the Committee met on 13 June 2018, a member of the public who had attended the 
meeting asked questions about the Local Plan and how public representations would be 
incorporated.

7.3 Quarterly performance reporting

7.3.1 On 13 June 2018 the Committee considered the report of the Deputy Leader which 
provided performance monitoring information to the end of quarter four. Prior to 
consideration by the Committee, the quarter four performance report had been presented 
to the Cabinet at its meeting on 7 June 2018. Areas that were discussed by the Committee 
included skills and apprenticeships and fly-tipping. Members also noted the new Corporate 
Strategy, which had been approved by Council, and would see the development of new 
key performance indicators to reflect the updated priorities. The Committee requested 
further detail behind the Corporate Strategy so that they could understand how it would 

80



15

work and for an indication of the key performance indicators that would be used. Members 
also asked for an opportunity to review the financial outturn position at the end of 2017/18.

7.3.2 The Committee received its next performance report on 13 February 2019, which covered 
quarters one and two of the 2018/19 financial year. The report also contained the 
proposals for transforming the way performance information would be reported in the 
future and how it would be brought in line with the Corporate Strategy. Members noted 
that targets set against revenue collection obligations were on-track. Members also 
discussed occupancy of retail units, higher-level apprenticeships, the food waste trial that 
was underway and recycling. The Committee raised several recommendations, including 
inviting the Cabinet Member for Environment to a future meeting to provide details on 
ways of recycling and separation of different types of plastic, and requesting information 
on how recycling in South Kesteven compared with the national picture. Members also 
suggested that it may be beneficial to visit a recycling centre outside the district. 

7.4 Financial quarterly reporting and outturn

7.4.1 Following its request on 13 June 2018, the Committee considered the financial outturn 
position at the end of 2017/18. The report provided a summary of the outturn position in 
respect of revenue and capital expenditure for both the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account. The report also set out variances against budgeted levels and in-year 
changes that had been made.

7.4.2 Questions asked by Members covered topics including leisure centres, the re-structure of 
the Senior Management Team, disabled facilities grants, a one-year business rate pilot in 
which the Council was participating, and markets and town centres. The Committee 
agreed that it would like disabled facilities grants to be added to its work programme for 
consideration at a future meeting, together with a presentation from the Head of Town 
Centres. Members also requested regular reports on the headcount of staff employed by 
the Council. 

7.4.3 In discussing the outturn position for the Housing Revenue Account, specific reference 
was made to visiting tenants’ properties to carry out re-wiring works and to inspect fire 
alarms. Members requested an update on house fire alarms, re-wiring and accessibility at 
the committee’s next meeting.

7.4.4 At its meeting on 17 October 2018, the Committee was provided with updates on disabled 
facilities grants, market towns and fire alarms and rewiring. Members noted that an 
underspend was forecast in respect of disabled facilities grants, with ensuing discussion 
concentrating on how the Council could optimise its spending, including contributing 
towards step-down accommodation, reviewing the way grants are advertised and whether 
it would be feasible for the district council to employ its own occupational therapist.

7.4.5 The Committee was advised that out of approximately 700 properties, access had been 
gained to 692, which had now been fitted with smoke alarms. Where operatives visited 
properties, they were required to check smoke alarms, and wherever possible smoke 
alarms were being hardwired into properties with the eventual aim of having hard-wired 
provision within all properties. Members were also provided with an update on the 
underspend in respect of homelessness. The update indicated that early intervention had 
proved successful in preventing homelessness despite a slight increase in the use of 
temporary accommodation.

81



16

7.4.6 The update on town centres included a recommendation to Cabinet that consideration 
should be given to forming a sub-committee to oversee the work on town centres within 
the district.

7.4.7 The Committee received the Quarter 2 financial monitoring report on 28 November 2018, 
which set out the forecast outturn position at the end of that period. The report included 
the general fund budget position by directorate, setting out variances against budgeted 
levels. Members were advised that business rate income would need to be subject to 
careful monitoring and forecasting throughout the duration of the pilot. Discussion topics 
included variances in respect of the HRA Capital Programme, one-off costs arising from 
the senior management restructure, vehicle repairs, the new build programme for council 
houses, the forecast level of reserves at the end of the year, investment of funds and the 
funds allocated for the creation of InvestSK. At the end of its considerations, the 
Committee recommended the proposed allocation of the projected business rate financial 
growth to Cabinet. On 20 December 2018, Cabinet recommended the approval of the 
allocation of business rate growth to Council, which in turn, agreed its allocation on 31 
January 2019.

7.4.8 The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee received its final financial update for the 
2018/19 municipal year on 13 February 2019. Discussion topics included budget 
virements, the creation of set-asides and centralisation of key budget headings, capital 
projects, the business rate pilot, recruitment and staffing figures, and car parks and tariffs. 
It was recommended that the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee should consider the disabled facilities grant underspend and that the members 
of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee be provided with a breakdown of staffing 
costs for each department.

7.5 DeliverSK

7.5.1 An additional meeting of the Committee was called on Wednesday 29 August 2018 to 
consider proposals for the formation of DeliverSK as an investment partnership (with a 
private sector partner) to manage the delivery of physical growth and regeneration in 
South Kesteven. Topics discussed by the committee included the legal implications, 
prospective partners and procurement, share of roles and 50:50 partnership working, 
transparency and accountability, the company structure and governance and decision-
making and projects.

7.5.2 The Committee made several recommendations to the Cabinet about the formation of 
DeliverSK. In addition to the recommendations that were set out in the report, the 
Committee recommended:

 Looking at the potential for some of the upfront establishment costs payable by the 
Council being rolled into the initial operational costs so that they are recoverable 
from the partnership’s profits in due course

 That a Shareholder Committee forms part of the proposed structure and receives a 
quarterly report from DeliverSK

 That, in addition to any profits made by DeliverSK being shared between partners 
in accordance with their respective investment inputs, the same would apply to any 
losses

82



17

 That further consideration should be given as to whether a contract with a future 
SPV investor should include a clause that 5% of the investment amount be 
provided upfront by the investor, as a surety should the project fail

 The Committee registered its concerns about a single Cabinet Member having the 
responsibility of making such significant decisions and suggested that other 
members be involved in the selection process

 The Committee supported the principle of carrying out a review of the governance 
for all SKDC companies in order to ensure that the roles of elected members and 
officers are clear and effective in respect of those companies

7.5.3 When Cabinet considered the recommendations of the Committee at its meeting on 6 
September 2018, it approved those recommendations that were set out in the original 
report, together with the Cabinet seeking to recover a portion of the establishment costs 
for DeliverSK from the Partnership’s future profits and the Cabinet authorising a 
governance review of all of the Council-owned companies and DeliverSK to ensure that 
decision-making is transparent and open, and that those companies are empowered to 
fulfil their stated purpose. The Cabinet also recognised that, as well as profits, any losses 
would be split between the partners in accordance with their investment inputs. Cabinet 
Members also acknowledged the concerns about individual Cabinet members having sole 
responsible for decision making on selection of a partner and entry into the partnership but 
gave reassurance that the Cabinet member would be supported in decision-making by 
Cabinet colleagues.

7.6 Article 4 Direction, Stamford

7.6.1 On 17 October 2018, the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a report on 
an Article 4 Direction for Stamford. The Direction, which had been subject to consultation, 
would remove certain permitted development rights on unlisted properties in the Stamford 
Conservation Area. The Committee recommended to Cabinet that the Article 4 Direction 
for Stamford should be adopted and the existing Warrene Keep Direction be cancelled, 
both with effect from 1 December 2018. The Committee also recommended that a fee of 
£206 be introduced for each planning application arising from the Direction.

7.6.2 The Cabinet agreed to adopt the Article 4 Direction for Stamford Conservation Area as 
drafted and to cancel the existing Warrenne Keep Article 4 Direction, both effective from 1 
December 2018. The Cabinet also agreed to the introduction of a fee of £206 for each 
planning application arising from the Direction and that any income surplus generated 
from the designation of this Article 4 Direction is ringfenced for future investment within the 
area covered by the Direction.

7.7 Smoke alarms, rewiring and accessibility

7.7.1 The committee received a progress update on the fitting of smoke alarms in existing 
council properties and the arrangements for providing smoke alarms in new properties. .

7.8 Disabled Facilities Grants

7.8.1 Having highlighted an underspend against the disabled facilities grant that was available, 
members received an update on 17 October 2019. During 2017/18 the level of grant 
funding increased from £375,000 to £796,000 and had to be used for disabled adaptations 
to non-Council housing stock. The Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing 
and Skills and the Head of Environmental were working with the NHS and clinical 
commissioning groups to support patients leaving hospital who were not well enough to 

83



18

return home. Whilst the grant was means tested, the criteria had been reviewed to enable 
wider access to the scheme.

7.8.2 Members noted that was a waiting list for occupational therapy assessments and referrals, 
which were required in order to access funding. Members suggested that the Council 
appointed its own occupational therapist however any referrals would still need to go 
through Lincolnshire County Council occupational therapists for approval. Members were 
also interested in how the grants were being advertised and recommended that further 
work should be undertaken with the Citizen’s Advice Bureau and GPs, and that 
consideration should be given to appropriate advertising through the Council’s media 
channels.

7.8.3 The Committee revisited the topic at its meeting on 13 February 2019 and recommended 
that the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee look at the 
process and issues arising from the allocation of the disabled facilities grant.

7.9 Communications Strategy

7.9.1 On 17 October 2018 the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications gave a 
presentation on the work carried out by the Communications team, setting out its 
objectives and principles of operation, core activities, examples of recent projects, future 
priorities, the team’s structure and an overview of the Local Government Association Peer 
Health Check. The Committee indicated that it would like to receive an annual update.

7.10 Property Investment Policy and Capital Strategy

7.10.1 As part of a Capital Investment Programme on which the Council was embarking, the 
Cabinet had allocated £10m in its draft 2019/20 Capital Programme proposals. On 13 
February 2019, members of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the 
draft Capital Strategy and the draft Property Investment Policy, which formed key 
components in delivering the Council’s investment aspirations.

7.10.2 The draft Capital Strategy set out the governance arrangements with respect to the 
formation of the Capital Programme and ensured that due consideration would be given to 
affordability, sustainability, risks and rewards and provided a framework for the 
management and delivery of the Capital Programme. The Capital Strategy would sit as the 
overarching strategic framework with the Property Investment Policy, the Treasury 
Management Strategy and the Asset Management Strategy.

7.10.3 Members discussed the criteria for assessing potential development opportunities, 
measures for potential returns and the potential location of investments. Members 
considered the new policies in the context of a requirement for the Council to become 
more self-sufficient. The Committee recommended that Council adopts the Capital 
Strategy and Property Investment Policy as circulated to them. Council adopted these 
documents when it adopted the budget on 1 March 2019.

7.11 Statement of Community Involvement

7.11.1 The Committee considered the Statement of Community Involvement following a period of 
public consultation at its meeting on 13 February 2019. The Statement of Community 
Involvement sets out how the public, organisations and other interested parties will be 
involved and engaged in the preparation of new development plan documents and in the 
process of determining planning applications. The Committee noted the feedback that had 
been received during the public consultation. 

84



19

7.11.2 The Committee recommended that the Statement of Community Involvement should 
include reference to the Members’ right to attend any Development Management 
Committee meeting (now Planning Committee) and, with the Chairman’s permission, 
speak on an objector’s behalf, highlighting valid planning objections. The Committee 
recommended the adoption of the Statement of Community Involvement to Cabinet, which 
adopted the final document on 7 March 2019.

8. Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Chairman: Councillor Bob Sampson

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown

During the 2018/19 municipal year, the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 
four occasions. A summary of the items considered by the committee is set out below. 

8.1 Armed Forces Officer 

8.1.1 At its meeting on 19 September 2018, the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received a presentation from the Armed Forces Officer who was working across South 
Kesteven, Rutland and Harborough. The role, which was funded through the armed forces 
covenant for the period between August 2018 and August 2020, had been created in 
response to a promise within the armed forces covenant that those who served and had 
served in the armed forces and their families would be treated fairly and not 
disadvantaged by their service. The role provided support to military personnel and their 
families in areas including healthcare, education, employment, training and support, 
reintegration into civilian life and accommodation. Members were also given an overview 
of some of the work that was being undertaken. The Committee recommended that the 
Armed Forces Officer should make a presentation at an all councillor briefing; the 
presentation was made on 19 November 2018.

8.1.2 The Armed Forces Officer attended a meeting of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to provide an update to the Committee. The report that was presented to 
Members included proposals for an armed forces discount card following the successful 
scheme that had been introduced by Rutland County Council in 2017. The Committee 
recommended that the Cabinet Member for Housing should introduce an armed forces 
discount card scheme, which he did through a non-key decision that was made on 19 
February 2019. 

8.2 Cultural events in rural areas

8.2.1 The Head of Arts attended the Committee’s meeting on 21 November 2018 to give a 
progress update on the production of a work programme to support the delivery of cultural 
events in rural areas.

8.2.2 Members were told about the engagement events that would support the development of 
the Cultural Strategy, to aid understanding around what cultural activity was already taking 
place and to identify the kind of events rural villages wanted. Members learned about the 
Live and Local Scheme, through which a variety of entertainment was provided. Contact 
had also been made with village committees and parish councils which identified possible 
constraints. Examples were given of existing events across the district that were 
particularly successful. Reference was also made to events that were happening across 
the district as part of the RAF100 commemorations.

8.3 Rural engagement vehicle

85



20

8.3.1 At the Committee’s meeting on 19 September 2018, members were advised that a vehicle 
had been procured and was available for use as a rural engagement vehicle. The trailer’s 
deployment, which was to provide rural areas with access to council services and services 
relating to rural isolation, poverty, crime and veteran support, was being overseen by the 
Visitor Economy Team at InvestSK. There were plans for the deployment schedule to be 
published in the Grantham Journal and the Stamford Mercury.

8.3.2 Members received an update on the deployment of the rural engagement vehicle at the 
meeting held on 21 November 2018. Members were given an overview of the number of 
events that had been arranged since the trailer had been procured, with around 39 events 
booked for the forthcoming year. The Committee asked for a breakdown of costs that were 
associated with the trailer, to include fuel, labour and the costs for WiFi. 

8.4 Loneliness and social exclusion

8.4.1 The Committee received a report on loneliness and social exclusion, which was presented 
by the Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills on 19 September 
2018. Members noted the demographic context of an aging population and different 
causes of loneliness and social isolation. Committee members agreed to hold a joint 
workshop with the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
consider ways of addressing loneliness and social exclusion.

8.4.2 At the following meeting of the Committee on 21 November 2018 the Committee 
considered who it might invite to the workshop session. The workshop was scheduled for 
January 2019.

8.5 Transformation and innovation

8.5.1 On 21 November 2019 the Committee received a report on services provided by South 
Kesteven District Council and how the authority was transforming its services. Key 
workstreams were digitisation, service review, intelligent automation, predictive analytics 
and operational improvements. The transformation programme was intended to improve 
self-service and availability and residents’ access to information. Members recognised that 
there were residents who did not have access to the internet and wanted to understand 
how the transformation agenda would affect those residents. Members asked for a report 
at its next meeting which clarified how the transformation themes affected the Council’s 
services and a report detailing the transformation plans and the intention of new 
companies owned by the Council. 

8.5.2 The follow-up report, which was presented on 23 January 2019, outlined the work that had 
been completed up to that point, setting out future plans and how the Council would 
continue to innovate to improve access and quality of service for customers. Members 
were interested in the savings that were intended to be delivered from the transformation 
programme and service review work. Actions arising from the meeting included the Deputy 
Leader discussing with the Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy about the use 
of the community engagement vehicle as a contact point for people in rural areas and 
Committee members being provided with a work plan for the processes that were going to 
be reviewed.

8.6 Rural broadband

8.6.1 Members received updates on the rollout of superfast broadband in rural areas. At its 
meeting on 19 September 2018, the Committee was asked to consider whether there 

86



21

might be any actions with which South Kesteven District Council could help. Members 
were informed of different alternatives for delivering broadband in rural areas, together 
with pros and cons for the different solutions.

8.6.2 The Committee requested further updates on the rollout being undertaken by Broadband 
Delivery UK, and that those plans were considered prior to consideration being given to 
alternative broadband solutions.

8.7 Rural Economy insights and InvestSK

8.7.1 The Strategic Lead from InvestSK delivered a presentation on rural economy insights and 
the work that was being undertaken by InvestSK. Members were given an overview of the 
company’s remit. Members were provided with statistical information which set out the 
proportion of the people in South Kesteven who lived in rural areas, together with 
information on rural businesses operating across agriculture, forestry, fishing, the food and 
drink sector and other related industries. There was evidence that clusters of businesses 
were developing outside the district’s market towns. A number of challenges had been 
identified for those trying to run businesses in rural areas: lack of growing or meeting 
space, networking and reliable connectivity.

8.7.2 Members took the opportunity to broaden their discussion to include the provision of 
superfast broadband across the district. Councillors also considered skills and access to 
education for people in rural areas and finding ways to encourage people to return to the 
area once their qualifications had been achieved. Other areas of discussion included: 
employment and low wages in agriculture and forestry, and reductions in public transport.

8.7.3 Work undertaken by InvestSK had identified key challenges: ensuring rural communities 
felt supported, overcoming the challenge of accessing rural heritage, isolation and 
loneliness, volunteer capacity to run heritage and community projects in the district’s 
villages and accessing funding for some projects. Opportunities had also been identified: 
encouraging interaction within rural communities, identity building, developing a tool for 
education and learning, accessing funding for heritage assets, highlighting volunteer 
opportunities, economic opportunities and commemoration events.

8.8 Bourne CiCLE Festival

8.8.1 When the Committee met on 23 January 2019, members were given an overview of the 
Bourne CiCLE festival, which was scheduled to take place over two days on 31 August 
and 1 September 2019. Whilst Bourne CiCLE festival sat outside a national series of 
events, there was agreement it should proceed as a means of attracting visitors to the 
area. It was hoped that in future the event could be incorporated within the national 
programme.

8.8.2 Members discussed safety issues, car parking and toilet facilities, together with the 
promotion of the event. Committee members also asked about the consultation that had 
been undertaken with local councillors and residents and discussed the potential impact 
on the local farming community.

8.8.3 The Committee suggested that any such events should be the subject of an all Councillor 
briefing.

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Meetings of the Cabinet approved since 25 July 2019
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 July 2019 as approved by Cabinet at its meeting on 
10 September 2019 are provided for Councillors’ information. The minutes of the Cabinet’s 
meeting held on 10 September 2019 will be made available at a future meeting of the Council 
following their approval by Cabinet.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research/Support Assistant 10 September 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 10 September 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 10 September 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Council is asked to note the approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 
July 2019 as attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 

89

Agenda Item 15

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement as 

established under the Local Government Act 2000. In 2010 the Council adopted the strong 
Leader model under provisions within the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007. 

1.2 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 set out 
the responsible body for different functions, specifically those functions that are not 
executive functions and those that may be determined by an authority’s executive. All 
other functions are, by default, executive functions and would therefore, under the 
Council’s arrangements, be determined by the Cabinet. The requirements of these 
Regulations mean that at all its meetings, the Cabinet may make some decisions outright 
whilst in other instances it may make recommendations to the Council.

1.3 The approved minutes of the Cabinet’s meetings are made available to the Council to note 
the decisions taken by the Cabinet. The agenda, reports to Cabinet and individual Cabinet 
Member decisions are all available on the Council’s website should Members wish to read 
them.

2 Financial Implications 
2.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of the report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

3 Legal and Governance Implications 
3.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded to inform Members of the 
deliberations of the meeting. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

4 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
4.1 This report provides Members with the record of Cabinet meetings. Where appropriate 

analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions will be 
presented to Cabinet with reports as individual issues come forward. 

5 Risk and Mitigation
5.1 Risk has been considered as part of the preparation of this report and no specific high 

risks have been identified.

6 Community Safety Implications 
6.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

7 Background Papers
7.1 There are no background papers relating to this report.

8 Appendices
8.1 Appendix 1: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 July 2019.

90



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Council 25 July 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  No decision required

91



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
Cabinet
Tuesday, 9 July 2019

The Leader: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman)

Cabinet Members present

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and 
Engagement

Non-Cabinet Members present

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Ray Wootten

Officers

Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Interim Head of Legal and Monitoring Officer (Shahin Ismail)
Head of Financial Services (Alison Hall-Wright)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

11. Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2019 were agreed as a correct record.

93

Appendix 1



12. Disclosure of Interests (if any)

No interests were disclosed.

13. Housing Strategy 12 month progress update (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced his report on the 12-month progress 
update of the Housing Strategy’s year one action plan. He gave a summary of the 
actions and outcomes associated with the action plan, which included:

 The development of a 5-year housing delivery programme for 300 units
 A review of the Allocations Policy to address overcrowding, under-occupancy 

and requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
 The number of affordable homes that had been delivered and planned
 Submission of planning applications for two modular sites
 The removal of the HRA borrowing cap

Reference was made to a modular scheme of eight homes that was being developed 
in Casewick Ward. The Cabinet Member for Housing was invited to go to the area to 
look at the scheme. Members of the Cabinet asked how the lifespan of modular 
dwellings compared with houses built using traditional building methods given the 
similarity in costs. Reference was made to prefab buildings erected post-war, which 
had an anticipated lifespan of ten-years. Advantages of modular homes included the 
speed with which they could be built and the fact that they did not rely on traditional 
building skills, of which there was a shortage in the district. It was hoped that as 
technology continued to improve, and production became increasingly automated, 
the cost of modular buildings would decrease.

Members asked about the rough sleeper pathway within the strategy and the 
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, including the 
differentiation between homelessness and rough sleeping and the initiatives that had 
been put in place.

It was AGREED: 

1. Cabinet notes and acknowledges the content of the 12-month progress update 
of the Housing Strategy year one delivery plan attached as Appendix 1 to the 
report of the Cabinet Member for Housing

2. Cabinet notes the current refresh of the Housing Strategy taking place with a 
view to bringing back the revised document to the Cabinet meeting on 10 
September 2019

14. Tenancy Strategy (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Housing presented his report on the draft Tenancy Strategy, 
which the Cabinet was being asked to approve for formal consultation. He explained 
that the previous version of the strategy had been published in 2013 and it was felt 

94



that it needed review. The strategy identified tenancy arrangements that the Council 
expected to be used across the district and acted as a guide to all social landlords 
operating in the area.

The Cabinet Member explained that the draft strategy recommended that fixed-term 
tenancies were used and proposed a recommended length, noting short-term 
tenancies were contrary to creating sustainable communities and could lead to 
increased costs as a result of administering their renewal. The strategy proposed a 
fixed-term 12-month tenancy for new tenants, which, when renewed, could become a 
long-term secured tenancy. Exceptions to this would include current council tenants 
moving from one Council property into another, who would go straight into a longer-
term secured tenancy.

Cabinet Members asked about who would be consulted on the proposed strategy. 
Formal consultation would be undertaken with other social landlords operating in the 
district as they would need to adhere to the parameters set out in the document.

A non-Cabinet member referred to the opportunities through which the Council could 
take action against tenants who were involved in anti-social behaviour, suggesting 
the introduction of annual or biannual inspections. The Cabinet Member considered 
such a stringent inspection regime as an invasion of privacy for tenants who were not 
causing a nuisance, noting that inspections were already in place to check that all 
facilities within a property were in order. He added that incidences of anti-social 
behaviour should lead to greater scrutiny of tenants.

In general, Members agreed with the wording in the draft Tenancy Strategy but noted 
that an adjustment was required in respect of the paragraph on DeliverSK on page 
36 of the agenda pack.

It was AGREED:

Cabinet approves the draft South Kesteven Tenancy Strategy for formal consultation 
subject to an amendment of the wording in respect of DeliverSK (page 36 of the 
agenda pack) and a further report which will be presented to Cabinet to consider and 
adopt the strategy following consultation

15. Tenancy Agreement (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced his report on the draft Tenancy 
Agreement, which the Cabinet was being asked to approve for consultation with all 
the Council’s tenants in accordance with Sections 102 and 103 of the Housing Act 
1985.

It was AGREED:

The Cabinet approves the proposed draft Tenancy Agreement as attached as 
Appendix 1 to the report of the Cabinet Member for Housing to commence the 
consultation process with all tenants of South Kesteven District Council in 
accordance with Sections 102 and 103 of the Housing Act 1985

95



16. Tenant Involvement Strategy (Key Decision)

In presenting the draft Tenant Involvement Strategy, which the Cabinet was being 
asked to adopt, the Cabinet Member for Housing explained the document set out 
how tenants could engage with the Council acting in its capacity as landlord. He 
added that the strategy represented a commitment by Council to support tenants, 
who were asked to take part in a satisfaction survey every three-years. Skyline, the 
tenants’ magazine, was being used to communicate with tenants and keep them 
informed of what was going on.

Cabinet Members asked about the current tenant satisfaction rate; when the last 
survey was undertaken, satisfaction exceeded 80% and the target was set to surpass 
this the next time the survey was carried out. 

Members were happy with the wording of the draft Strategy but noted that the 
Council’s Corporate branding needed applying to the document.

It was AGREED: 

Cabinet approves the Tenant Involvement Strategy 2019-24 as attached to Appendix 
1 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Housing subject to the strategy document 
being brought in line with corporate branding

17. Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for planning presented his report on the Housing Delivery Test 
Action Plan. He referred to the Government’s commitment to improving the delivery 
of new homes nationally and measures and reforms that had been put in place to 
assist in the delivery of this. The Housing Delivery Test was introduced by the 
Government as a monitoring tool to test whether local planning authorities were 
building enough to meet their identified housing need. 

The test took account of the number of homes that had been built over the previous 3 
years; where delivery was less than 95% of the housing requirement, local planning 
authorities were required to prepare an action plan setting out the causes of under 
delivery and the actions they intended to take to increase delivery. Where delivery 
had been less than 85% of the housing requirement, a 20% buffer had to be applied 
to the supply of deliverable sites. South Kesteven achieved 81% of its housing 
requirement. The action plan that had been drawn up was attached as Appendix 1 to 
the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning.

Members noted that since the publication of the results of the Housing Delivery Test, 
evidence indicated that 676 dwellings were delivered in South Kesteven in 2018/19, 
which exceeded the requirement.

Some frustration was addressed that the Council was being asked to find resolutions 
for barriers to delivery that were reliant on third parties and outside its control. The 

96



action plan, which had been produced on the Council’s behalf by a consultant, 
identified that the Council was subservient to developers. It was also noted that 
where an application came forward and was refused by the Council, time, money and 
effort was required to bring a revised application back, which caused delays to 
delivery. 

Members noted that changes had been made in respect of the viability calculations, 
which would now be based on the actual value of land rather the price the developer 
paid for it. Reference was also made to the design officer who had recently been 
appointed by the Council and the benefit of that role in assisting members of the 
Planning Committee in their consideration of applications.

The Cabinet Member for Planning stated that there had been positive engagement 
with developers. He added that all parties, including the Council’s design officer, 
working through technical details together at an early stage in the application process 
meant that there were fewer opportunities for the determination of applications to be 
delayed.

Members noted that prior to publication some clarifications were required at section 6 
of the document so that actions were aligned to the correct council.

It was AGREED: 

The Cabinet approves the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan attached as Appendix 1 
to the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and delegates authority to the 
Cabinet Member for Planning to make minor changes to the document prior to its 
publication

18. Outturn 2018/19

The Cabinet Member for Finance presented the outturn position at the end of 
2018/19 in respect of the General Fund Revenue Budget, the Housing Revenue 
Account Budget and the General Fund and HRA Capital Programmes. He informed 
Members of the Cabinet that in-year budget monitoring had been undertaken by the 
Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and that the final outturn position had 
been presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 June 2019.

The Cabinet Member referred to in-year changes to the General Fund Budget and 
how, following approval by Council to use the business rates gain to fund towards the 
balance of the 2018/19 financial year, the General Fund had achieved a surplus 
position. The report set out variances over £20,000 by directorate, including 
commentary on those variances. The report also showed carry forwards into 
2019/20, which all related to the funding of specific items and projects.

The original HRA budget for 2018/19 was set at a surplus of £6.668, against an 
actual surplus of £4.301m. The surplus was transferred to reserves to provide 
additional internal funding for the HRA Capital Programme.

97



Table 8 of the report set out the summary of changes to the Capital Programme; the 
capital budget had an underspend of £9.428m, reducing the requirement to use 
reserves. 

The report included commentary on balances and reserves. Members’ attention was 
drawn to a new reserve that was created at the recommendation of the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and with the agreement of the 
Governance and Audit Committee. The reserve was to enable a pilot crowd-funding 
initiative, which the Cabinet was being asked to approve.

Reference was made to the meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 
June 2019 and the questions and discussion that had taken place. Comments were 
also made about the way in which the Council used New Homes Bonus to support 
growth and the difficulties being experienced by those authorities that were using it to 
subsidise their core budgets.

It was AGREED: 

The Cabinet:

1. Reviewed the Revenue and Capital Outturn report and associated appendices 
for 2018/29

2. Notes the budget carry forwards shown at paragraph 4.5 and reserve 
movements shown at section 7 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance

3. Notes the Capital slippages from the 2018/19 Capital Programme as detailed in 
the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and appendices C and E

4. Notes the change to the Regeneration Reserve Policy to include financing any 
feasibility work costs in respect of property acquisition and development

5. Approves the introduction of the Crowd Funding initiative for the District of 
South Kesteven and note the formation of a specific reserve of £100k to fund 
the initiative for a 1-year pilot period

19. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

The report of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet Members that no matters 
had been referred to it by the Council and summarised those matters that had been 
considered by overview and scrutiny committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 
11 June 2019.

20. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non-Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.

98



The Cabinet noted the report of the Leader of the Council which informed Cabinet 
Members of decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet was held on 11 June 2019.

21. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

No representations or questions were received from non-Cabinet Members.

22. Cabinet Forward Plan

Cabinet Members noted the report of the Leader of the Council, appended to which 
was the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet over the following 12-month period. The plan also 
included items that were scheduled to be considered at meetings of the Council 
during that period.

The following updates were noted: 

 The Cabinet Member with responsibility for the Customer Access Strategy was 
the Cabinet Member for the Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and 
Wellbeing and not the Cabinet Member for Communications and Engagement

 Prior to consideration by Cabinet, the Asset Management Strategy would need 
to be considered by the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

23. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 16:41.

99



This page is intentionally left blank



Council
26 September 2019

Notice of Motion
Councillor Ashley Baxter

        

Humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of which are being felt 
around the world. Global temperatures have already increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-
industrial levels. Atmospheric CO2 levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds 
the 350 ppm deemed to be a safe level for humanity;

In order to reduce the chance of runaway Global Warming and limit the effects of Climate 
Breakdown, it is imperative that humankind reduce our CO2 eq (carbon equivalent) emissions 
from their current 6.5 tonnes per person per year to less than 2 tonnes as soon as possible;

Individuals cannot be expected to make this reduction on their own. Society needs to change its 
laws, taxation, infrastructure, etc., to make low carbon living easier and the new norm;

Carbon emissions result from both production and consumption;

South Kesteven District has already shown foresight when it comes to addressing the issue of 
climate breakdown, having committed to some practical initiatives including: a programme of 
replacing street lights with energy-efficient LEDs, a food waste pilot scheme.

Unfortunately, our current plans and actions are not enough. The world is on track to overshoot 
the Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit before 2050; the IPCC’s Special Report on Global Warming of 
1.5°C, published in the autumn of 2018, describes the enormous harm that a 2°C rise is likely to 
cause compared to a 1.5°C rise, and told us that limiting Global Warming to 1.5°C may still be 
possible with ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private 
sector, indigenous people and local communities. 

Increasing numbers of Councils around the world are responding by declaring a ‘Climate 
Emergency’ and committing resources to address this emergency.

Council believes:

1. All governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to limit the negative impacts of 
Climate Breakdown, and local governments that recognise this should not wait for their 
national governments to change their policies. It is important for South Kesteven residents 
that their local authorities become carbon neutral at the earliest opportunity

2. Bold climate action can deliver economic benefits in terms of new jobs, economic savings 
and market opportunities (as well as improved health, security and well-being for people 
worldwide)

101

Agenda Item 17a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Council resolves to:

1. Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’
2. Set a target for South Kesteven District Council’s operations to be carbon neutral by 2030
3. Call on Westminster to provide the powers and resources to make the 2030 target possible
4. Integrate carbon reduction measures into all council activities, including the activities of the 

Council’s companies
5. Continue to work with partners across the District, County and region to deliver this new 

goal through all relevant strategies and plan
6. Work with other governments (both within the UK and internationally) to determine and 

implement best practice methods to limit Global Warming to less than 1.5°
7. As part of the Council’s budget-setting process, allocate an additional £100,000 to ‘pump-

prime’ sustainability and carbon reduction initiatives
8. Request the Cabinet considers appointing an officer responsible for driving the Council’s 

carbon reduction agenda
9. Request the Leader of the Council writes to Lincolnshire County Council urging them to 

recognise the climate emergency and take a lead, both in their own operations and in 
working with the Districts, to move as rapidly as possible to carbon neutrality 

102



Council
26 September 2019

Notice of Motion
Councillor Charmaine Morgan

        

1. The Government has stated that the United Kingdom will leave the European Union on 31st 
October, 2019 with or without a deal. 

South Kesteven District Council needs to be able to demonstrate that it has taken appropriate 
action to prepare for the challenges and opportunities presented by Brexit.

2. Therefore, Council mandates the Leader, Chief Executive and Senior Management Team of 
the Council to produce an evidence-based Brexit impact assessment briefing for all 
Councillors. 

The impact assessment will enable informed decisions be made by Cabinet members, 
councillors and officers. It will be a useful tool for other affected parties. It will identify the 
scope of impact, scale and severity of impact and associated risks.

3. The briefing is to include:

a) A summary of the forecast impacts of Brexit on South Kesteven District Council services 
(including Council owned enterprises);

b) An assessment of the likely risks and opportunities of the most likely Brexit scenarios;

c) Details of actions likely to be necessary or beneficial in light of Brexit

d) The likely additional costs to the District Council resulting from most likely Brexit Scenarios.

4. The briefing is to give full consideration to the likely impacts of Brexit on the following:

a) all services provided by, or on behalf of, the Council (and its subsidiaries): 

b) the Council’s critical supply chain:

c) residents of South Kesteven

d) businesses within the District. 

5. The briefing is to be produced at the earliest opportunity and before 11 October at the latest.
Updates will be provided to Councillors at appropriate intervals.

6. As far as possible the content of the briefing will be available within the public domain.  Any 
information concerning sensitive information of a commercial and/or personal nature should be 
appended and clearly indicated as confidential.

103

Agenda Item 17b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


7. Publication of the briefing should be followed by a short but meaningful consultation with 
relevant stakeholders including Councillors, staff, residents, businesses and other 
organisations.

104



Council
26 September 2019

Notice of Motion
Councillor Virginia Moran

        

After a protracted and sometimes acrimonious public debate, the UK Government outlawed 
hunting with dogs when the Hunting Act received Royal Assent in 2004.
In the same year, the Belvoir Hunt Ltd was established as a private company in the Melton 
Borough of Leicestershire for the purpose of ‘hunting, trapping and related service activities’.
On several occasions in recent years, the supporters and employees of the Belvoir Hunt have 
been in the courts and in the news for a range of public order and animal welfare offences. These 
include: in 2016, two employees of the Belvoir Hunt attacking a retired police officer, resulting in a 
broken neck. They later pleaded guilty to charges of grievous bodily harm, theft, criminal damage 
to property and assault causing actual bodily harm; and in 2018, the Head gamekeeper of the 
Buckminster Estate was found guilty of Animal Welfare offences after keeping a fox captive in a 
brick shed a day before the Belvoir Hunt was due to meet nearby.
For many years, the Belvoir Hunt has been associated with Grantham partly as a result of the 
annual Boxing Day meet. This event has been the subject of much controversy and negative news 
coverage in recent years. Supporters claim that the event raises money for good causes but in 
2018 the event’s contribution to the Mayors charity was a paltry £88.82. Meanwhile the 
organisational costs to the public purse e.g. for preparation, policing and cleaning, were much 
higher.
It is time for the Council to firmly disassociate itself from the Belvoir Hunt Ltd whose activities 
continue to bring the town, the Charter Trustees and the District into disrepute.

Council resolves:

1) To refuse permission for use of SKDC assets for any activity connected with the Belvoir 
Hunt (This is to include all land and property which is owned or managed by the Council).

2) To refuse any discretionary licence application relating to activities of Belvoir Hunt including 
event licences and so-called ‘charitable’ street collections.

3) To ensure that all costs associated with preparation, management or clearing up after 
activities connected with the Belvoir Hunt are recovered from the organisers.

4) To refuse and withhold any other non-statutory support for the Belvoir Hunt.

105

Agenda Item 17c

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2019
	8 Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
	9 Appointments to committees including the appointment of their Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen
	Political balance calculations

	10 Appointment of representatives to outside bodies
	OUTSIDE BODIES MAY 2019, 23/05/2019 Council

	11 Climate Emergency - changes to Budget and Policy Framework
	12 Amendment to Budget Framework
	13 Recommendations from the Constitution Committee
	ToR

	14 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018/19
	SCAR v 2

	15 Meetings of the Cabinet
	Minutes , 09/07/2019 Cabinet

	17a Councillor Ashley Baxter
	17b Councillor Charmaine Morgan
	17c Councillor Virginia Moran

